
 

 

Government Documents Submitted As Summary Judgment 

Exhibit 

Through the litigation, the government has produced thousands of pages of records regarding the family 

separation policy that reveal:  

▪ The government began discussing separating families as a tool for deterring future migrants early in the 

Trump administration.  

▪ An pilot program in El Paso in which parents were prosecuted and families were separated was considered 

a success and high-level officials pushed aggressively to expand the program.  

▪ The government implemented family separation despite repeated warnings that doing so would cause 

severe trauma to children and parents and despite lacking adequate systems for ensuring that parents and 

children could communicate while separated and could be reunited. 

▪ Even though the purported justification for separating families was to allow for the prosecution of the 

parent, in fact families were separated before Border Patrol agents knew if the parent would be prosecuted 

and many families were separated and remained separated even though the parents were never prosecuted 

or spent only a few hours in criminal custody.  

▪ In fact, high level officials expressed concern that families might be reunited too quickly and intended to 

reunite families only for the purpose of deportation. 
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1                     

2        Q    Okay.  So a child who shows up at

3   the border with an adult who has custody

4   over that child; is that correct?

5        A    Correct.

6        Q    What does -- what does the phrase

7   amenable to prosecution mean?

8        A    It refers to an adult that meets

9   our prosecution guidelines.

10        Q    Are the prosecution guidelines set

11   out in some manual or directive somewhere?

12        A    In a manual or -- in a manual?

13             No, to my knowledge no.  Various

14   directives and guidance have come out over

15   the years to various degrees.

16        Q    And I take it that changes over

17   time; is that correct?

18        A    Yes.

19        Q    All right.  So amenable means that

20   they meet the prosecution guidelines.

21             It doesn't necessarily mean that

22   they have been referred for prosecution; is

23   that correct?

24        A    Correct.

25        Q    And just to return what we said --
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1                     

2   neglected to ask you before, back in that

3   time frame, who was your direct supervisor

4   if you recall?

5        A    It probably would have been Shawn

6   Jordan.

7        Q    Okay.  All right.

8             So you see in the email on Monday,

9   May 7th, that the directive supplied by

10   border patrol, Travis Darling at the Yuma

11   sector, is that all eligible adult aliens

12   are going to referred for prosecution, even

13   in family units; is that correct, sir?

14        A    Yes.

15        Q    And it looks like the only

16   exception that's provided in this email is

17   that, if an adult was accompanied by a

18   tender-aged child age four and younger,

19   there would not be a prosecution; is that

20   correct?

21        A    Yes.

22        Q    So to flip that around, do I

23   understand correctly that the guidance that

24   was provided, as of May 7th, required you,

25   everyone in the Yuma Station to refer for
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1                     

2   prosecution all adults in family units who

3   had children five and over?

4        A    Based on this email, it would

5   appear so.

6        Q    Okay.  And I assume that, given

7   our discussion early on in the deposition

8   where we talked about the separation of

9   family units, that you recall receiving

10   notification some time in this time frame;

11   is that correct?

12        A    Again, very vague.

13        Q    When this notification came out,

14   do you recall whether there was discussion

15   among your colleagues at Yuma Station about

16   this directive?

17        A    Not that I recall.

18        Q    What, if anything, do you remember

19   people saying?

20        A    In regards to this directive?

21        Q    Yes.

22        A    I don't really recall much being

23   said about it.

24        Q    There is reference in Travis

25   Darling's email, the last paragraph of the
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2   through the UAC portal, which was a separate

3   database.  At some point, it was integrated

4   into e3.  I don't recall the time frame when

5   that happened.

6        Q    All right.  Let's put a pin in

7   that and come back to it because I think I

8   have some documents which will help us

9   understand that time frame.  Let me ask you

10   just -- I want to return to the topic that

11   we were talking about for the last several

12   minutes about what happened in terms of

13   separations.

14             I'll represent to you, Agent

15   Comella, that two of our clients, two

16   mothers expressed that, when their children

17   were taken away from them in May of 2018,

18   they were crying and an officer laughed at

19   them and jokingly said, Happy Mother's Day,

20   to them.

21             Did you ever hear that happen?

22        A    No.

23        Q    Would you agree that, if that

24   happened, that would be completely

25   inappropriate?
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1                     

2        A    Yes.

3        Q    Some of our clients have also

4   alleged that border patrol agents mocked

5   their accents, their indigenous accents.

6             Did you -- did you ever see that

7   happen?

8        A    No.

9        Q    Would you agree that, if that

10   happened, it would be completely

11   inappropriate?

12        A    Yes.

13        Q    Some of our clients have alleged

14   that they were detained in highly

15   overcrowded cells to the point that it was

16   impossible for them to lay down.

17             Do you recall observing anything

18   like that?

19        A    I recall our cells being maxxed

20   out on capacity --

21        Q    And would -- and would you

22   agree -- so when you say maxxed out, that

23   means there was -- there would be no space

24   for people to lay down?

25        A    Potentially.

Case 2:19-cv-05217-SRB   Document 404-2   Filed 04/24/23   Page 92 of 213



212-400-8845 - Depo@TransPerfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 232

1                     

2   that border patrol agents screamed at them

3   and refused to do anything to address their

4   parent's distress about the loss of their

5   child.

6             Did you ever see that happen?

7        A    No.

8        Q    Would you agree that that would be

9   completely inappropriate?

10        A    Yes.

11        Q    Some of our clients have alleged

12   that their children were ripped from their

13   arms while their children were clutching

14   onto their parents.

15             Did you ever see that happen?

16        A    No.

17        Q    Would you agree that that would be

18   completely inappropriate?

19        A    Yes.

20        Q    Some of our clients have alleged

21   that they waited weeks or months before they

22   were ever able to speak to their children

23   once they were separated.

24             Did you ever hear about that

25   happening?
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1                     JOSEPH COMELLA

2        A    Well --

3        Q    -- to --

4        A    Yeah.  Correct.

5        Q    Okay.  And in any event, in either

6   circumstance, once the child was separated

7   and taken to an ORR facility, as we've

8   established before, border patrol, it would

9   not -- under your practices that were

10   prevailing in May of 2018, would not have

11   gone and rescinded the separation to reunite

12   the family, correct?

13             MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection.

14        Form.  Foundation.

15        Q    That's correct, sir?

16        A    Yes, that's what I said.

17        Q    Okay.  And so we've established

18   that for each of our client families, the

19   clients that I represent with my cocounsel.

20   The children were sent to ORR custody.  And

21   in each circumstance, prosecution of the

22   mother was either declined or we have no

23   idea what happened because there's no

24   documentation.

25             Would you agree that, in summary,
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2   that's what we've reviewed over the past

3   half-hour, 45 minutes or so?

4             MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection.

5        Form.

6        A    Yes.

7        Q    And in each of those cases, the

8   separation of those children from those

9   parents was mandated by the directives that

10   had been given to you from the chain of

11   command, correct?

12             MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection.

13        Form.

14        A    Yes.

15             MR. FEINBERG:  Let's go off the

16        record.

17             VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 7:09.

18        We're off the record.

19               (Whereupon, at 7:09 p.m., a recess

20               was taken to 7:26 p.m.)

21               (The proceeding resumed with all

22               parties present.)

23             VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 7:26.

24        We're back on the record.

25        Q    Okay.  Agent C , we're back
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From: 

Sent: Frilay, July 14, 2017 2:47 PM 
To: ; DELEON, DESl D. 
CC: 

Subject: RE: Call to El Paso Sector 

Si-s, 

11iis will definitely 1rake an nrpact. woukl also allow for higher coosequeuce to be delivered in the future. 

lt appears to be effective with the fumily units we CLlffently separate (reinstaterrents ). 

I will lave SBPAMedrano look into JamilyseparaLionguidance fiomI-lQ aixl Fbres cotll)lrux:e. 

Respectfully, 

-

From: 

Sent: Friday, July 14, 2017 7:08:53 PM 
To 
Cc 

Subject: FW: Call to El Paso Sector 

FYSA-we will be looking to accomplish same. 

Law Enk>r<:em�n1 OPS- Yuma Sector 

U.S. Oordcr P.itr� 

From: 
Sent: Friday, July 14, 2017 11:06AM 

To 
Cc 
Subject: Call to El Paso Sector 
Sir, 
Per your instructions, I was able to get a hold of (A}PAICll!lll>f the Ysleta Station who verified that they are currently splitting up family 
units. He referred me to the Prosecutions Unit and I spoke with SOS nd SPBA ■■■■I They both stated that they began 
spitting up family units approximately one week ago after they had a meeting with the Texas USAO. During this meeting, it was agreed upon 
that the USAO has the onus of deciding who should be prosecuted under their current initiative, which involves criminally prosecuting as many 
illegal entrants for 1325 as possible. Therefore, it was agreed upon with the USAO that BP would present all adults amenable to 1325, which 
meant separating accompanied children so that the adults could be sent to court. 
Typically, their first time entrant 1325s are getting 7-10 day sentences and the separated juveniles are then sent to ORR for placement as 
unaccompanied juveniles. They stated that since the program started a week ago they have been fielding a lot of questions about it from the 
judges and Defense Attorneys . 

• 
ly, 

Exhibit P-4 

4/7/2022 

CONFIDENTIAL - SUBJECT TO PROTECTIVE ORDER CD-US-0080603
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -x

A.P.F. ON HIS OWN BEHALF AND ON BEHALF OF HIS
MINOR CHILD, O.B.; J.V.S., ON HIS OWN BEHALF
AND ON BEHALF OF HIS MINOR CHILD H.Y.; J.D.G.
ON HIS OWN BEHALF AND ON BEHALF OF HIS MINOR
CHILD, M.G.; H.P.M. ON HIS OWN BEHALF AND ON
BEHALF OF HIS MINOR CHILD, A.D.; M.C.L. ON HIS
OWN BEHALF AND ON BEHALF OF HIS MINOR CHILD,
A.J.; AND R.Z.G. ON HIS OWN BEHALF AND ON
BEHALF OF HIS MINOR CHILD, B.P.,

                         PLAINTIFFS,

            -against-

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

                         DEFENDANT.
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -x
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        DEPOSITION OF BRIAN HASTINGS
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2

3
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10

11

12                  MAY 12, 2022

13                  10:08 a.m.

14

15

16

17                  Confidential Remote Videotaped

18 Deposition of BRIAN HASTINGS, held remotely with

19 all parties appearing from their respective

20 locations, pursuant to Notice before DANIELLE

21 GRANT, a Stenographic Reporter and Notary Public

22 of the State of New York.

23

24

25



CONFIDENTIAL

212-400-8845 - Depo@TransPerfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 3
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2 REMOTE APPEARANCES:

3 CM PLAINTIFFS’ COUNSEL:

4 KAIRYS, RUDOVSKY, MESSING, FEINBERG & LIN LLP

5      The Cast Iron Building

6      718 Arch Street

7      Suite 501 South

8      Philadelphia, Pennsylvania  19106

9 BY:  NOT PRESENT

10

11 AMERICAN IMMIGRATION COUNCIL

12      1331 G Street, NW, Suite 200

13      Washington, DC 20005

14 BY:  EMMA WINGER, ESQ., of COUNSEL
ewinger@immcouncil.org

15      GIANNA BORROTO, ESQ., of COUNSEL
gborroto@immcouncil.org

16

17 ARNOLD & PORTER

18      250 West 55th Street

19      New York, New York 10019-9710

20 BY:  SEAN MORRIS, ESQ., of Counsel
sean.morris@arnoldporter.com

21      BRIAN AURICCHIO, ESQ., of Counsel
brian.auricchio@arnoldporter.com

22 NATIONAL IMMIGRATION LITIGATION ALLIANCE

23      10 Griggs Terrace

24      Brookline, Massachusettes 02446

25 BY:  MARY KENNEY, ESQ., of COUNSEL



CONFIDENTIAL

212-400-8845 - Depo@TransPerfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 4
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2 REMOTE APPEARANCES:

3 APF PLAINTIFFS’ COUNSEL:

4 SOUTHERN POVERTY LAW CENTER
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6      DECATUR, GEORGIA 30031

7 BY:  JIM KNOEPP, ESQ., of COUNSEL
Jim.Knoepp@splcenter.org

8

9 COVINGTON & BURLING LLP
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11      850 Tenth Street, NW

12      Washington, DC 20001-4956
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2              FEDERAL STIPULATIONS

3

4           IT IS STIPULATED AND AGREED by and

5 between the attorneys for the respective parties

6 herein that the filing, sealing, and

7 certification of the within deposition be waived.

8           IT IS FURTHER STIPULATED AND AGREED

9 that all objections, except as to the form of the

10 question, shall be reserved to the time of the

11 trial.

12           IT IS FURTHER STIPULATED AND AGREED

13 that the within deposition may be sworn to and

14 signed before any officer authorized to

15 administer an oath, with the same force and

16 effect as if signed to before the court.

17

18

19                    - oOo -

20

21

22

23

24

25



CONFIDENTIAL

212-400-8845 - Depo@TransPerfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 44

1                    Brian Hastings

2 definition, correct?

3      A    Correct.

4      Q    And that there is no parent or a

5 legal guardian in the United States who is

6 available to provide care had physically

7 custody.

8           Is that the third aspect of the

9 definition?

10      A    I believe that's it.

11      Q    What renders a parent unavailable

12 for purposes of the TVPRA?

13      A    Three categories that I -- that I

14 can recall off the top of my head is:  One,

15 the adult would require immediate medical

16 care or extended medical care of a

17 humanitarian-type situation; two, there's

18 some type of former criminal activity,

19 criminal activity could be there is a want

20 or warrant out by an agency for the parent;

21 three, there is a prosecution of the family

22 member which will not allow the child to go

23 through the prosecution process with them.

24      Q    For the third portion of that,

25 when there is a prosecution of the parent,
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2 at what point does, in your understanding,

3 the child become a UAC?

4      A    My understanding is as soon as you

5 know -- as soon as you realize the adult it

6 is amenable for prosecution and you know

7 that you're going to set that adult up to be

8 prosecuted, it's at the earliest time frame

9 possible because we -- by TVPRA, we have

10 72 hours to place that child into Health and

11 Human Services or our care and custody.

12 That's the only thing -- the only thing that

13 we have available to us if -- by law, we

14 have to place them within 72 hours.

15      Q    What -- what triggers the 72-hour

16 time period for the child to be placed

17 into -- with ORR?

18      A    My understanding is that the

19 clock, so to speak, begins as soon as the

20 arrest is made or the encounter is made with

21 the unaccompanied alien child.

22      Q    So as soon as the arrest is made,

23 if they are amenable for prosecution but

24 before even being referred to prosecution,

25 your understanding is the 72 hours for
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2 placement into ORR begins to run?

3      A    My understanding is, as soon as

4 you encounter the unaccompanied alien child,

5 the clock begins to tick for the 72 hours

6 mandatory by TVPRA.

7      Q    And that encounter with a UAC is

8 at the moment that they are apprehended and

9 the parent is amenable for prosecution.

10           Is that how I'm understanding what

11 you have said?

12      A    Again, my understanding is

13 immediately upon the encounter with the

14 child, if the adult is amenable, then the

15 clock starts ticking at that point.  That's

16 my understanding.

17      Q    Okay.  Well, let's talk then, when

18 you say amenable to prosecution, what does

19 that term mean?

20      A    That they -- that they can be

21 prosecuted.

22      Q    They can be prosecuted but they

23 have not yet been referred for prosecution.

24           Is that how I'm understanding what

25 you are -- what you're saying?
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1                    Brian Hastings

2      Q    And on the third -- or sorry.

3 The -- A few more bullets down, the bullet

4 point that begin:  Debriefs of apprehended

5 subjects.  I'm just going to read that one.

6           Debriefs of apprehended subjects

7 through the initiative reveal that many of

8 them would have chosen to illegally enter

9 the U.S. through a different sector had they

10 known about ETPs prosecution effort.  This

11 further indicated that prosecution of

12 immigration-related offenses is in an

13 effective deterrence to illegal entry.

14           Did you ever see any interview

15 notes of individuals who had entered

16 illegally in the El Paso sector noting that

17 they would have chosen a different sector

18 had they known about the policy or the

19 initiative?

20      A    I don't know.

21      Q    As part of the El Paso initiative,

22 were family units being separated?

23      A    My understanding is that single

24 adults were being set up for prosecution

25 creating an unaccompanied alien child that
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2 was being handed over or given to HHS by

3 TVPRA, yes.

4      Q    The bullet point immediately below

5 says there was a 64 percent decrease in

6 apprehensions.  That's the same 64 percent

7 we saw in the earlier memo we were talking

8 about before.

9           And my question is whether this

10 jogs your memory as to whether or not you

11 saw how that 64 percent was calculated as a

12 result of being provided with this document.

13      A    And I would, again, say I don't

14 recall if it was from this document or

15 numbers that we ran at Border Patrol

16 headquarters.  I don't recall which.

17      Q    If you go to the last page, under

18 recommendation, do you see that, where it

19 says recommendation?

20      A    I do.

21      Q    The second to last sentence says:

22 EPTs prosecution initiative has proven to be

23 effective in deterring criminal aliens and

24 reducing the flow of FMUAs -- family

25 units -- in their AOR.
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1 (CONTINUED)

2 --and--

3           UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
          FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA

4

5
               Case No. CV-19-05217-PHX-SRB

6
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4 taken pursuant to Federal Court Rules, by and before
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1  reunified quickly.

2         Q.      You provided a number of observations

3  in your declaration.  Did you undertake

4  appropriate -- did you undertake -- strike that.

5                 You provided a number of observations

6  in your declaration.

7                 Did you undertake diligence to

8  confirm the accuracy of the representations that you

9  were making?

10         A.      Can you -- can you restate the

11  question?  I'm not sure I understand that.

12         Q.      When writing this declaration, were

13  you satisfied that the information that you were

14  providing in your declaration was accurate?

15         A.      Yes.

16         Q.      I want to direct your attention to

17  Paragraph 4, you noted that in order to reunify

18  separated families that ICE was, quote, working

19  closely with U.S. Customs and Border Protection, CBP

20  and the U.S. Department of Health and Human Service,

21  HHS, office of refugee resettlement ORR; is that

22  accurate?

23         A.      That's correct.

24         Q.      Was that type of close collaboration

25  among ICE, CBP, HSS, ORR necessary to reunite
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1  separated families?

2         A.      Yes.

3         Q.      Why was that?

4         A.      So customs and border protection has

5  the responsibility of securing our southwest border

6  and that's in locations between the ports of entry,

7  so when a -- they were the ones that had separated

8  these families and had the lists of what parents were

9  separated, those documents and those systems were not

10  accessible to HHS and ORR at the time so we had to

11  communicate daily, hourly with the Customs and Border

12  Protection to get updated lists, to get updated

13  locations of parents, of what -- where -- where these

14  parents were -- who they were turned over to, where

15  they were prosecuted and to add to that, HHS's

16  systems don't talk to border patrol -- border patrol

17  or ICE either at that time.  So we had to reconcile

18  that list with HHS to determine where the children

19  were and of course the ICE don't talk to any of those

20  two so -- or at least at the time, they didn't.  So

21  we would have to get a third list from ICE to

22  reconcile the border patrol and HHS list.

23                 So very difficult process and needed

24  a lot of coordination in order to get -- to get this

25  done.
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1         Q.      Is it fair to say that it was a

2  primarily manual process?

3         A.      It was, yes, that would be fair.

4         Q.      In Paragraph 5, you explained that to

5  reunite separated families for ICE reunification, as

6  you've indicated, involved several labor-intensive

7  steps.  Can you read what types of labor intensive

8  steps were required as you've detailed in Paragraph

9  5?

10         A.      Sure, so the reviewing of actual

11  alien files or records of proceedings, the printing

12  out of arrest records or I213s and reviewing the

13  narratives and this is primarily border patrol, A

14  files and border patrol I213s, capturing that

15  information, writing it down and gathering it into a

16  list.  It was very manual and labor intensive

17  process, but it was the best process that we have

18  since there wasn't -- this was -- this event had --

19  this was a unique event that had never occurred in my

20  career, in many people's career.  We didn't have the

21  capability to quickly determine where the parents and

22  the children were -- or if they were even related or

23  if they were even separated, so the labor intensive

24  steps include manual review of documents, files,

25  databases, phone calls to stations, phone calls to
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1  HHS or phone calls to shelters; very difficult, very

2  difficult and labor intensive.

3         Q.      In addition to those that you've

4  mentioned, you listed, in Paragraph 5, that one of

5  the labor intensive steps was to, quote, developing a

6  reunification plan for class members with children

7  five years of age and over, closed quote.  Another

8  area appeared to be, quote, facilitating

9  communication between class members and their

10  children, closed quote?

11         A.      Yes.

12         Q.      Do you see that?

13         A.      Yes, I see that.

14         Q.      Do you agree today?

15         A.      I'm sorry.  Could you repeat that?

16         Q.      Would you agree today that those were

17  still challenges that -- or would you agree today

18  that those were challenges that you were facing at

19  that time?

20         A.      Yes.

21         Q.      And as of July 6, 2018, the date of

22  your declaration, these were steps in progress,

23  right?

24         A.      Correct.

25         Q.      You were not affirming that these
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1  were completed as of the date of your declaration,

2  right?

3         A.      I'm sorry.  I don't understand the

4  question.

5         Q.      These were not completed, these steps

6  that you indicated, were not completed as of the date

7  of your declaration, right?

8         A.      Correct, they were ongoing processes

9  and we were building new processes, too, as we went.

10         Q.      So for example, when we -- when you

11  had written and I had read the -- that ICE needed to

12  redevelop a unification plan for class members for

13  families with children five years of age or older,

14  there had been no reason unification plan prior to

15  this?

16         A.      I don't recall seeing a reunification

17  plan.  I'm sorry.  I don't remember the time frames.

18         Q.      In Paragraph 6, you noted that the

19  first step toward unifying separated families was

20  identifying potential class members, right?

21         A.      Correct.

22         Q.      And consistent with what you've

23  described, you called this, quote, a difficult and

24  time consuming task, closed quote; is that right?

25         A.      Correct, yes.
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1         Q.      And as you had mentioned, this was

2  because the data necessary to determine the separated

3  families within -- to determine the separated

4  families was not maintained as a part of ICE's

5  regular business process, correct?

6         A.      No, that's correct.  So just a little

7  background and context.  The border patrol under the

8  Zero Tolerance program and the hundred percent

9  prosecution program had separated their adults and

10  children.  The adults for the most parted come into

11  ICE ERO custody and the children had come into HHS

12  custody and there was no unified record of what

13  parent went where and what child went where.  So that

14  was the beginning of this process.  So we had to

15  create a process to track and then go back -- to

16  track any future separations and to go back and

17  actually account for everyone that had already been

18  separated and that was a very labor intensive process

19  to include HHS counselors at the shelters actually

20  talking to the kids to determine if they were

21  separated parents and us -- ICE putting fliers in the

22  detention centers where -- and we have many, many,

23  detention centers across the U.S., with a phone

24  call -- with a phone number that a parent company

25  call and asking information for -- about a potential
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1  separated child in their case.  So we were using any

2  means in our -- in our -- within our capabilities to

3  try to capture that data.

4         Q.      And prior to your efforts, there had

5  not been a system that could capture all that

6  information?

7         A.      That's correct.

8         Q.      In Paragraph 7, you detailed -- which

9  is on the next -- on page 3 of the document, you

10  detailed the resources needed to review the cases,

11  identify separated families and facilitate

12  communications between a separated parent and child.

13                 Can you describe what resources were

14  needed?

15         A.      Sure.  So we needed every -- there

16  are many different divisions -- operational units at

17  headquarters supervised by an assistant director.  My

18  division, field ops, had the responsibilities over

19  the field office directors.  The custody management

20  division has its own chain of command and then its

21  own responsibilities.  They're responsible for the --

22  supervising the detention capacities across the ICE

23  spectrum.  We operate a large nationwide network of

24  detention beds where we keep adults in county jails,

25  state jails, contracted facilities.  They're
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1  responsible for that.  So they had a piece in it as

2  well because they also have the juvenile family --

3  the JFRMU, the Juvenile Family Residential Management

4  Unit.  So they have a piece as well in this, and we

5  also have a division within ICE, an operational unit

6  called LESA, Law Enforcement Statistical Analysis.

7  And those are our statisticians.  They also had a

8  role because they were creating the lists,

9  reconciling the lists from the border patrol,

10  reconciling the list from HHS and any other list that

11  was -- we could get our hands on and merit getting

12  those into one unified list that we could look at at

13  the operations center at the Hubert Humphrey building

14  and getting those families reunified quickly.  So

15  yeah, it was a very difficult process.  It was not

16  easy and it was a unique challenge.

17         Q.      In Paragraph 7 and 8, it appears that

18  you discuss how certain field office directors would

19  have to reassign officers from other duties in order

20  to track the separated families and to undertake the

21  various steps that would be necessary in order to

22  facilitate the communication between the separated

23  parent and child and to re -- ultimately to reunify

24  the separated parent and child; is that correct?

25         A.      That's correct.
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1         Q.      Can we refer that when I refer to the

2  Family Separation Policy, you understand that I'm

3  referring to the policy that I just described?

4                 MR. PARKER:  Objection; form;

5  foundation.

6         A.      I'm not sure I understand.  Zero

7  Tolerance under prosecution -- a hundred percent

8  prosecution programs primarily a border patrol

9  program, so I refer -- I really don't have an answer

10  for that.

11         Q.      So let me rephrase.

12                 When I refer to the Zero Tolerance

13  policy, you'll understand that I'm referring to the

14  set of policies and the procedures that we've just

15  talked about; is that fair?

16         A.      I don't know if I could agree to that

17  because I don't know that a whole scope of when --

18  when border patrol -- I don't want to speak for

19  border patrol when there are other circumstances that

20  maybe require family separation, so I can't speak to

21  that or I can't agree to that.

22         Q.      Sure.  What would you like to call

23  the policy that we've just talked about?

24         A.      Separation under Zero Tolerance.

25         Q.      Okay.  So I'll refer to it as
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1  separation or Zero Tolerance?

2                 How did you learn about the Zero

3  Tolerance Policy?

4         A.      I don't recall how I learned about

5  it.  I think -- I think we found out about it -- at

6  least my division found out about it the same time

7  the media found out about it.  There was no proactive

8  like email to my knowledge or memo or a heads-up that

9  this was going to be occurring.  I think we found out

10  at the same time that everyone else found out.  And

11  this -- we is my division in ICE.

12         Q.      Do you recall whether you were

13  serving as the acting DAD when you learned about the

14  Zero Tolerance Policy?

15         A.      Yes, I was the acting DAD.

16         Q.      Did you have a role in developing the

17  Zero Tolerance Policy?

18         A.      No.

19         Q.      Were you involved in meetings to

20  develop the family -- or the Zero Tolerance Policy

21  prior to April of 2018?

22         A.      No, I wasn't.

23         Q.      Were you involved in communications

24  regarding the Zero Tolerance Policy prior to 2018?

25         A.      No, no, I wasn't.
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1         Q.      Did you have any discussions with

2  others regarding the Zero Tolerance Policy prior to

3  2018, April of 2018?

4         A.      No.

5         Q.      Do you otherwise have any knowledge

6  of how the Zero Tolerance Policy was developed?

7         A.      No, I don't.

8         Q.      Have you ever personally witnessed

9  any of the separations of family units pursuant to

10  the Zero Tolerance Policy?

11         A.      No, I haven't.

12         Q.      I'm going to direct your attention to

13  what's being -- what's been previously marked as

14  Plaintiff's Exhibit P-639.

15                 (Exhibit P-639, Email, was previously

16         for Identification marked at a prior

17         deposition.)

18  BY MS. PARK:

19         Q.      And you'll see that come up on the

20  e-Depoze screen.

21         A.      Okay, I see it now.

22         Q.      You'll want to go to the bottom of

23  page 5, which carries over to page 6.  You'll see

24  that this is an email chain.

25         A.      Okay, I'm there at page 5.
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1  personnel to help do this and taking a whole

2  government approach to try to reunify these families

3  consistent with the judge's order out of California.

4  A lot of hard work, you know, I was working seven

5  days a week, many hours, going into this -- not just

6  myself, many other people.  But yeah, the -- I think

7  the thought of it, because normally -- I think in the

8  course of normal operations I think before an

9  operation of any scale is kicked off, there is some

10  preliminary discussion about how best to kick off

11  those type of operations but I was not included in

12  any of those.

13         Q.      You've had an extensive background

14  within ICE.  From your experience, was the Zero

15  Tolerance Policy a significant policy change?

16         A.      Yes.

17         Q.      In your experience, was the level of

18  preparation standard for the kind of policy change

19  that was being implemented?

20         A.      I'm sorry, can you reask the

21  question?

22         Q.      From your experience, was the level

23  of preparations, I think you indicated that you were

24  caught unaware, for this significant kind of policy

25  change, was that standard in your experience?
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1 (CONTINUED)

2 --and--

3           UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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4

5
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6
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1           TRANSCRIPT of the videotaped deposition of

2 the above-named witness, called for Oral Examination
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1  in CD-US-0058841A.

2                 (Exhibit P-656, CD-US-0058841A, was

3         marked for Identification by the court

4         reporter.)

5         A.      Okay.  Opening now.  Okay.  I've got

6  it.

7         Q.      Again, this is another longer email.

8  So if you go all the way back to page 11, this will

9  be the last page?

10         A.      Okay, can I get a few minutes to

11  read?

12         Q.      Certainly.  Let me know when you're

13  ready.  And I can direct your attention to the

14  relevant place where you enter the discussion.

15         A.      Okay, I'm finished.

16         Q.      So if you start at page 11, which is

17  the last page, this is a June 13, 2018 email from

18  Kevin McAleenan to Scott Lloyd.  Do you see that?

19         A.      Yes.

20         Q.      Subject line is connecting parents

21  and kids and Mr. McAleenan states:  We are being told

22  by ICE delays are happening once we find the parent

23  and connect to child in ORR.  The ORR case manager

24  tells us it can take days to get child to the phone

25  to connect to parent.  Do you have any info on this?

Case 2:19-cv-05217-SRB   Document 404-2   Filed 04/24/23   Page 48 of 213
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1  Anyway DHS can assist?  Then Scott Lloyd forwards it

2  to some individuals, including what must be 

3  ?

4         A.      Uh-huh.

5         Q.      Who replies on June 13, 2018:  I

6  guess it would depend on who they are contacting.  If

7  it's the hotline, then it will take time to connect

8  the parent and child since the hotline will not

9  provide PII and will forward info to the shelter.

10                 She then, in the second paragraph

11  indicates:  We should mention that we've had

12  situations where we have been unable to get parent

13  locations from them and cases where parents are

14  deported without notification or coordination with

15  us:  This is cop cyst tent with what you've told us

16  about -- with the challenges of communications and of

17  tracking that we discussed early on in your

18  deposition; is that right?

19         A.      Correct.

20         Q.      If you go to the third page.

21         A.      I'm there.

22         Q.      In the middle of the page, you'll see

23  that after much discussion about some of the

24  challenges connecting parents and kids, Tae Johnson

25  emails you and CM chondromalacia and David Jennings
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1  on June 16, 2018 and he notes:  Looping ops into

2  this.  Major issues with communication.

3                 Do you see that?

4         A.      I do.

5         Q.      And again, that's consistent with

6  what you've described to us as problems that were

7  encountered during the course of the family of the

8  Zero Tolerance policy regarding communications among

9  separated families?

10         A.      Correct, so as little background,

11  some of the parents that we had in our custody were

12  unknown to us or are -- or Border Patrol had not

13  identified them as separated parents so ICE had no

14  idea that they were separated parents or ORR may have

15  had kids at their shelters that were asking to

16  communicate with their parent that were in ICE

17  custody but ICE had no idea that we even had that

18  particular parent or custody.  It was a very

19  challenging time to try to connect all the dots.

20         Q.      Then if you go up in the email chain,

21  you reply with some thoughts on some of these cases,

22  and then if you go to the first -- I'm sorry, the

23  first page of this email --

24         A.      Okay.

25         Q.      -- there's an email from
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1           THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

2              FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA

3 C.M., on her own behalf and 
on behalf of her minor child, 

4 B.M.; L.G., on her own behalf 
and on behalf of her minor 

5 child, B.G.; M.R., on her own 
behalf and on behalf of her 

6 minor child, J.R.; O.A., on 
her own behalf and on behalf 

7 of her minor child, L.A.; and 
V.C., on her own behalf and 

8 behalf of her minor child., G.A.,

9                    Plaintiffs, 
vs.                              NO:  2:19-cv-

10                                       05217-SRB

11 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

12                    Defendant. 

13 _________________________________/

14                           

15   REMOTE VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF  C  

16                Thursday, June 24, 2022 

17

18

19

20

21

22

23 Reported By:  

24 LINDA VACCAREZZA, RPR, CLR, CRP, CSR. NO. 10201

25 JOB NO. SY005075
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1                                   

2                          

3                          

4                                   

5                            June 24, 2022  

6                            8:03 a.m.

7                          

8                          

9      Remote Videotaped Deposition of  

10 C  held REMOTELY BY ALL PARTIES, pursuant to 

11 Notice, before Linda Vaccarezza, a Certified 

12 Shorthand Reporter of the State of California.

13          

14          

15          

16          

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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1      Q.   Other than the challenges that you've 

2  mentioned today about locating and obtaining 

3  contact information for separated parents, did you 

4  encounter any other challenges to your 

5  responsibilities as a case manager as a result of           09:36

6  that policy?

7           MR. HALL:  Objection.  Form.

8           THE WITNESS:  It was very difficult to 

9  maintain contact with the parents after the 

10  separation, even after locating them.  It was very          09:36

11  difficult to identify families.  If the minor was 

12  too young to report or did not have a phone number, 

13  we would not be able to locate anybody here in the 

14  U.S. or in their home country.

15  BY MS. SCHAEFFER:                                           09:36

16      Q.   Did the change -- did the policy change 

17  lead to -- excuse me.  

18           Did the policy change lead to any other 

19  problems at LSS?

20      A.   Not that I can recall.                             09:36

21           MS. SCHAEFFER:  Okay.  And do you mind 

22  introducing s case file.  

23           This is an exhibit marked CN Plaintiff's 

24  Exhibit 2.  

25           (Exhibit 2 was marked for identification.)         09:37
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1  old might experience being physically removed from 

2  his mother's arms by government officials as 

3  possibly traumatic?

4      A.   Yes, I agree.

5      Q.   Do you know how children are typically             09:44

6  transferred from DHS custody from places along the 

7  southwest border to facilities in New York such as 

8  LSS during this time period?

9      A.   I do not know specifics.  But I was aware 

10  that they would travel in large planes with several         09:44

11  -- sometimes dozens or hundreds of kids.

12      Q.   Do you know the circumstances of  

13  journey to LSS from DHS custody?

14      A.   I do not know the specific circumstances 

15  that he experienced.                                        09:45

16           MS. SCHAEFFER:  Ana, do you mind 

17  introducing the next exhibit which the -- so this 

18  is an exhibit marked CM Plaintiff's Exhibit 4. 

19           (Exhibit 4 was marked for identification.)

20  BY MS. SCHAEFFER:                                           09:45

21      Q.   This is a document that was produced to us 

22  by the government in this case.  And do you see 

23  that it says about a third of the way down the 

24  page, it says, "MBM Inc. will be transporting the 

25  following minors to," among other places, "LSS"?            09:45

Case 2:19-cv-05217-SRB   Document 404-2   Filed 04/24/23   Page 164 of 213



212-400-8845 - Depo@TransPerfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 70

1      A.   Yes.

2      Q.   Thank you.  Do you see that it says that 

3  the minors will be picked up at approximately 

4  3:00 a.m.?  

5      A.   Yes.                                               09:45

6      Q.   Would you agree that transporting children 

7  at 3:00 o'clock in the morning is not the best time 

8  to transport children because children should be 

9  sleeping at 3:00 o'clock in the morning?

10      A.   I agree.                                           09:46

11      Q.   If you turn to Page 2 of this document, do 

12  you see 's name listed about in the middle of 

13  the page?

14      A.   Yes, I do.

15      Q.   If you scroll down to the bottom, do you           09:46

16  see where it says, "Please ensure that the 

17  juveniles are fit to fly"?

18      A.   Yes.

19      Q.   Did you know that 's journey to LSS 

20  was the first time he had been on an airplane in            09:46

21  his life?

22           MR. HALL:  Objection.  Form.

23           THE WITNESS:  I was not aware specifically 

24  for  but typically, it is the first time for 

25  all of our minors in care.                                  09:46
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1  BY MS. SCHAEFFER: 

2      Q.   Would you agree with me that a five-year-

3  old child's first flight on an airplane might be a 

4  stressful and scary event?

5      A.   I agree.                                           09:47

6      Q.   Would you agree with me that being picked 

7  up at 3:00 o'clock in the morning and put on an 

8  airplane for the first time ever immediately after 

9  being physically separated from his mother would be 

10  a traumatic event?                                          09:47

11           MR. HALL:  Objection.  Form.

12           THE WITNESS:  I agree.

13  BY MS. SCHAEFFER:

14      Q.   We are going to return to 's case 

15  file which is Plaintiff's -- CM Plaintiff's Exhibit         09:47

16  2.  If you could reopen that.  Thank you.  

17           And if you could turn again to Page 3 

18  which is the page that we looked at before.  

19           So  was admitted on May 11, 2018, 

20  right?                                                      09:48

21      A.   Yes.

22      Q.   And it says here that you're identified as 

23  his case manager?

24      A.   Yes.

25      Q.   And his assigned clinician was              09:48
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1      A.   Typically, it would be via e-mail.

2      Q.   So if I can't identify any e-mail that 

3  transmits that information to you, there's no way 

4  for me to -- or strike that.  

5           If I can't identify an e-mail that                 12:28

6  transmits information to you, letting you know that 

7   has been transferred to a different 

8  facility, fair to assume that nobody informed you?

9           MR. HALL:  Objection.  Form.

10           MR. NAZAROV:  Joined.                              12:28

11           THE WITNESS:  It is likely.

12  BY MS. SCHAEFFER: 

13      Q.   Do you think it would have been helpful if 

14  the federal government informed you of when 

15  separated parents were transferred to different             12:29

16  facilities?

17           MR. HALL:  Objection.  Form.

18           MR. NAZAROV:  Joined.

19           THE WITNESS:  Yes.

20  BY MS. SCHAEFFER:                                           12:29

21      Q.   Will you agree with me that the federal 

22  government's failure to provide you with 

23  information about 's location and her 

24  whereabouts Hindered your ability to facilitate 

25  calls between ?                          12:29
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1           MR. HALL:  Objection.  Form.

2           MR. NAZAROV:  Joined.

3           THE WITNESS:  Yes.

4  BY MS. SCHAEFFER: 

5      Q.   Would you agree with me that speaking with         12:29

6  his mother benefited ?

7      A.   Yes.

8      Q.   Would you say that it's important for 

9  children and their parents to be able to 

10  communicate?                                                12:30

11      A.   Yes.

12      Q.   Especially perhaps when a child is very 

13  young?

14      A.   Yes.

15      Q.   Did you have any concerns about how being          12:30

16  separated for weeks without communication or 

17  information about a parent's location could harm a 

18  young child?

19           MR. HALL:  Objection.  Form.

20           THE WITNESS:  Can you repeat the question,         12:30

21  please.

22  BY MS. SCHAEFFER:

23      Q.   Yes.  Did you have any concerns about how 

24  being separated from a parent for weeks without 

25  information about the parent's location or                  12:30
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1   was sad, correct?

2      A.   Correct.

3      Q.   So just because something is not in your 

4  notes, just because there's no indication in your 

5  notes that  was sad, that doesn't mean that            12:32

6   was not in fact sad, correct?

7           MR. HALL:  Objection.  Form.

8           THE WITNESS:  Correct.

9  BY MS. SCHAEFFER:

10      Q.   Can you please turn to Page 265.                   12:32

11      A.   (Witness complies.)

12      Q.   These are your notes from a call with 

13  who is 's cousin on May 25th, 2018, 

14  correct.

15      A.   Yes.                                               12:33

16      Q.   And it looks like during this call, you 

17  asked M  again if  could let you know if 

18  she was able to contact a?

19      A.   Yes.

20      Q.   And during this call,  reported to            12:33

21  you that  was very concerned about n?

22      A.   Yes.

23           MS. SCHAEFFER:  Ana, could you please 

24  introduce the next exhibit.  

25           So this is an exhibit marked CM                    12:33
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1      A.   Correct.

2      Q.   Do you recall how you became aware that 

3  she had been transferred to the Nevada Southern 

4  Detention Center?

5      A.   I do not recall, no.                               12:35

6      Q.   Do you recall when you became aware?

7      A.   No, I do not.

8      Q.   Did you ever use the ICE locator to try 

9  and locate detained parents?

10      A.   In the past, I have, yes.                          12:35

11      Q.   Do you think it's possible you may have 

12  used it in this situation?

13      A.   It's possible.

14      Q.   And the ICE locator is a publicly 

15  available website?                                          12:35

16      A.   Yes.

17      Q.   Do you recall whether you attempted to use 

18  the ICE locator to locate a separated parent during 

19  this time frame from April 2018 to July 2018?

20           MR. HALL:  Objection.                              12:36

21           THE WITNESS:  Yes, it was common practice.

22  BY MS. SCHAEFFER:

23      Q.   So were you aware of other case managers 

24  at LSS using the ICE locator to try to locate 

25  separated parents?                                          12:36
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1      A.   Can you repeat the question?  

2      Q.   Yes.  You said it was common practice.  So 

3  from my understanding, during this time period, 

4  approximately April to July of 2018, were you aware 

5  of other case managers at LSS that used the ICE             12:36

6  locator to try and locate separated parents?

7      A.   Yes.

8      Q.   Was there ever a time that you recall 

9  where you tried to locate a separated parent using 

10  the ICE locator but received zero results?                  12:36

11      A.   Yes.

12      Q.   Are you aware of this happening to other 

13  people as well?

14      A.   Yes.

15      Q.   So fair to say that the ICE locator was            12:37

16  not a particularly reliable way to locate a 

17  separated parent?

18           MR. HALL:  Objection.  Form.

19           THE WITNESS:  Yes.

20  BY MS. SCHAEFFER:                                           12:37

21      Q.   So even though as of this date, you had 

22  's full name and her A-number, it could 

23  still be difficult to locate her; is that right?

24      A.   Correct.

25      Q.   And even as a government contractor --             12:37
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1  one occasion"?

2      A.   Correct.

3      Q.   And the case manager is you, correct?

4      A.   Correct.

5      Q.   So as of the date of this case review              12:49

6  which you can see underneath the signature is June 

7  8th, 2018, you had only been able to contact 

8   once?

9      A.   Yes.

10      Q.   Looking at the first section of text under         12:49

11  "care plan" next to "reunification," can you tell 

12  me what "reunification" means?

13      A.   The reunification section is the section 

14  where we list updates for the minors to -- in 

15  reference to their case to be reunified with their          12:50

16  families.  Either they are going to be released 

17  here or returned back to home country.

18      Q.   And as of the date of this evaluation, 

19  June 8, 2018, were you aware of any reunification 

20  option pursuant to which  and C  would          12:50

21  be reunified in the United States?

22      A.   No, I was not.

23           MS. SCHAEFFER:  Ana, could we please 

24  introduce the next exhibit which is a document 

25  Bates-stamped LSS, string of zeros, and then 683.           12:50
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1  contact information from her, you obtained 

2  additional contact information; is that correct?

3      A.   Yes.  I obtained contact information for 

4  her Assigned case manager.

5      Q.   Is that because you had had so much                01:04

6  trouble getting in contact with her that you wanted 

7  to have as much contact information for her as 

8  possible?  

9           MR. HALL:  Objection.  Form.  

10           THE WITNESS:  Yes.                                 01:04

11  BY MS. SCHAEFFER:

12      Q.   And your notes here suggest that you 

13  talked to  about voluntary departure and 

14  joint repatriation; is that right?

15      A.   Yes.                                               01:04

16      Q.   And it looks like  didn't want 

17  to be going back to Guatemala by himself; is 

18  that correct?

19      A.   Yes.  Correct.

20      Q.   So fair to say she changed -- no.  --              01:04

21  strike that.

22           Fair to say C  wanted to go to 

23  Guatemala with -- no.  Strike -- never mind.  

24  Strike that.

25           Your notes reflect that  was              01:04
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1      Q.   And if I wanted to know whether  

2  participated on this call with , because 

3  your notes don't suggest that he does, I would look 

4  on the call log; is that correct?

5      A.   Correct.                                           01:17

6      Q.   Could you please turn to Page 291.

7      A.   (Witness complies.)

8      Q.   Do you recognize these as your notes from 

9  a meeting with B  on July 12, 2018?

10      A.   Yes.                                               01:17

11      Q.   And these notes reflect that  was 

12  able to talk to his mom, correct?

13      A.   Correct.

14      Q.   Do you recall approximately how long this 

15  call lasted?                                                01:17

16      A.   I do not.

17      Q.   And you testified earlier, correct, that 

18  calls typically lasted three minutes?

19      A.   Yes.  But I'm not aware how long this call 

20  lasted.                                                     01:18

21           THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  Is there any way 

22  I can take a quick break?  

23           MS. SCHAEFFER:  Of course, yes.

24           You want ten minutes?  

25           THE WITNESS:  Just five minutes is okay.           01:18
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1  says on Page 299, it seems like two pages were 

2  scanned together and I'm not sure if maybe that's 

3  where it was documented.  

4      Q.   So ' call log is on Page 299, 301 

5  and 303.  Okay, okay.                                       01:32

6           So based on the documents that we have 

7  looked at today, it looks like  was able to 

8  speak to his mother a handful of times while they 

9  were separated, correct?

10      A.   Correct.                                           01:32

11      Q.   So when we reviewed your case notes from 

12  May 17, that was a call that lasted approximately 

13  three minutes; is that right?

14      A.   Correct.

15      Q.   And we reviewed your notes from a call on          01:32

16  July 12, 2018.  And we are not sure exactly how 

17  long that call may have lasted because there's not 

18  a record of the length of time?

19      A.   Correct.

20      Q.   And you said calls with the detention              01:32

21  centers were frequently about three minutes long; 

22  is that right?

23      A.   Correct, yes.

24      Q.   And looking at this call log on Page 303, 

25  do you see at the very bottom of the page, it looks         01:33
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1  like there's a record of a call with  on 

2  May 31st, 2018?

3      A.   Correct.

4      Q.   That lasted approximately eight minutes?  

5      A.   Yes.                                               01:33

6      Q.   Do you happen to know whether  was 

7  able to speak to his mother during this call?

8      A.   Yes.  If it was documented on the call log 

9  that those eight minutes were provided to the 

10  minor.                                                      01:33

11      Q.   And I know that we -- sorry.  Strike that.  

12           We reviewed an e-mail earlier that -- 

13  where people at LSS were working to facilitate a 

14  call between  and  on June 28, 2018.  

15  I didn't see a record of that call on this log              01:34

16  either.

17      A.   I'm not sure why.  I was not working that 

18  week so I'm not sure what happened to that log.

19      Q.   Is it possible it didn't happen?

20      A.   It's possible it didn't happen; that it            01:34

21  was documents on another page or just not 

22  documented.

23      Q.   So based on the records that we have 

24  available, we have determined that  has been 

25  able to speak to his mother for -- he was able to           01:34
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1  speak to his mother three times while he was at 

2  LSS, correct?

3      A.   Correct.

4      Q.   On May 17th for approximately three 

5  minutes; on May 31st for approximately eight                01:34

6  minutes; and then again on July 12 for an 

7  undetermined period of time; is that right?

8      A.   Correct.

9      Q.   And assuming that  could only speak 

10  to his mother for three minutes consistent with             01:35

11  some other -- well, strike that.

12           Assuming he was able to speak to her for 

13  eight minutes, consistent with the longest record 

14  of a call that we have with C , he was able 

15  to speak to his mother for a total of 19 minutes            01:35

16  total; is that correct?  

17      A.   Correct.

18      Q.   Do you agree with me that that's not a lot 

19  of time?

20      A.   I agree.                                           01:35

21      Q.   During the period between approximately 

22  May and July of 2018, did you have other children 

23  who had been separated from their parents that were 

24  not able to speak to their parents for very much 

25  time?                                                       01:36
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     IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

         FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA

            NO. 2:19-cv-05217-SRB

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - x

C.M., on her own behalf and on behalf :
of her minor child, B.M.; L.G., on her:
own behalf and on behalf of her minor :
child, B.G.; M.R. on her own behalf   :
and on behalf of her minor child, J.R.:
O.A., on her own behalf and on behalf :
of her minor child, L.A.; and V.C. on :
her own behalf and on behalf of her   :
minor child, G.A.,                    :
          Plaintiff,                  :
v.                                    :
                                      :
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,             :
          Defendant.                  :
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - x

  Videotaped Zoom Deposition of L  R

            Monday, July 11, 2022

                  1:02 p.m.

Reported by: Cassandra E. Ellis, CSR-HI

#475, CSR-CA #14448, CCR-WA #3484, RPR

#823848, CRR, Realtime Systems Administrator

Job No.: 5080
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1   were, and then so you could contact the

2   detention center.

3             So there were, like, ways of

4   establishing that connection from the

5   beginning.  Now, it was -- it was --

6   sometimes it's difficult to get in

7   contact when we would call, but we would

8   know where they were and -- yeah.

9       Q     Is the ID, is that the A number

10   that the parent --

11       A     Correct.  Correct.  Yes.

12       Q     And you said sometimes you

13   weren't able to get in contact with the

14   parent at the detention center, even if

15   you had the A number?

16             MR. NAZAROV:  Objection.

17       A     Yes.  Correct.

18       Q     How often were you not able to

19   establish contact?

20       A     I don't remember exactly how

21   often, but I -- I know that it happened a

22   couple of times, where I called and there

23   was just -- there was no way for them to

24   connect me to the parent, yeah.

25       Q     Do you know why they weren't
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1   able to connect you with the parent?

2             MR. NAZAROV:  Objection, form,

3       foundation.

4       A     Yeah, I'm not sure why.

5       Q     They didn't give you any

6   explanation when you called?

7       A     No.  Yeah, they didn't give me

8   explanation.

9       Q     And were you -- was -- were you

10   using the ICE detainee locator to find

11   the parent?

12       A     Correct.  Yes.  I believe

13   that's what it was, yeah.

14       Q     And was it an important part of

15   your job ensuring communication between

16   the child and the parent?

17             MR. SILVER:  Objection.

18       A     Yeah, I -- I believe it was --

19   it was an important part of our job, even

20   before the separation.  We always made

21   sure that we had sort of communication

22   with the -- the minor's family or the

23   sponsor so that they, you know, knew that

24   they -- they still were able to

25   communicate with them and that that was
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1       you're muted.

2             THE WITNESS:  Sorry.  That was

3       a fire truck.

4             MS. KINDLON:  It happens.  I --

5       I completely understand.  I have

6       lived near a hospital.  It gets loud

7       on the Zoom calls.

8 BY MS. KINDLON:

9       Q     So I just wanted to skip ahead

10   to the end of the second paragraph, the

11   sentence that starts -- you have:  "CI

12   educated minor about the process of

13   finding his mother in detention and being

14   able to give him communication with her

15   and ensured minor that C.M. was trying to

16   locate her to give him the chance to

17   speak with her"; do you see that section?

18       A     Yes.

19       Q     Do you know who -- what "CI" is

20   there?

21       A     I don't.

22       Q     But M -- what is "C.M."?

23       A     "C.M." is case manager.

24       Q     So that would have been you, in

25   this instance?
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1       A     Correct.

2       Q     And it says you were trying to

3   locate 's mother; is that correct?

4       A     Correct.

5       Q     So just for -- do you think --

6   is there any chance that "CI" is actually

7   "CL"?  Could that be the clinician, do

8   you know?

9       A     I'm not sure.

10       Q     So do you remember your efforts

11   to try to locate 's mother?

12       A     I don't remember, specifically,

13   no.

14       Q     But do you remember anything

15   generally about it?

16       A     No.  I only -- only remember

17   generally what the experience was like

18   trying to get in contact with a parent

19   that was in the detention center, but I

20   don't remember any specific case or

21   anything like that.

22       Q     What was the general experience

23   like?

24       A     It was often difficult.  Like,

25   we would call and, like, not be able to
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1   get connected to the parent, or we would

2   have to leave a message or something to

3   get -- be able to get a call back.  But

4   that often didn't work, because we had to

5   schedule those times, because we had to

6   be with the minor at the time that the

7   call was made.

8             And depending on where the

9   minor was, like, where the minor's

10   classroom was, it could have been, like,

11   you know, across town.

12             So it -- it -- it made it very

13   difficult to -- to schedule those

14   conversations when -- yeah, when it -- it

15   felt like they weren't, like, helping us

16   make that connection.

17       Q     And who is the "they" there?

18       A     I don't -- I'm not sure who I

19   spoke to when I called the detention

20   center, but I guess just ICE or whoever

21   runs those places, yeah.

22       Q     In general the detention

23   centers were not -- their process was not

24   making it easy for to you establish

25   contact?
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1       A     Right.

2             MR. NAZAROV:  Objection, form,

3       foundation.

4 BY MS. KINDLON:

5       Q     And so it sounds like the

6   issue -- the issues were both not being

7   able to reach the mother if they were

8   there, not being able to schedule a time

9   to -- for them to call back, the child

10   might not have been there, you might not

11   have been able to reach the parent; is --

12   is that generally correct?

13             MR. SILVER:  Objection.

14       A     Yes.

15       Q     Any -- anything else that was a

16   problem?

17       A     I think there were occasions

18   when parents were transferred, but this

19   is -- I mean, I don't remember that

20   clearly, but that also, I think, made it

21   difficult to get in contact with them, if

22   they were transferred and we weren't,

23   like, aware or the records weren't, like,

24   updated, yeah.

25       Q     So in your experience as case
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1   manager, sometimes the records you had

2   were -- were not actually where the

3   individual was?

4             MR. NAZAROV:  Objection.

5             MR. SILVER:  Join.

6             THE WITNESS:  Sorry.  Can you

7       repeat that?

8             MS. KINDLON:  Yeah.

9 BY MS. KINDLON:

10       Q     Just in your experience, you

11   said sometimes the person had been

12   transferred and the paperwork wasn't up

13   to date, so are you saying that, in your

14   experience as case manager, sometimes the

15   documents you had about where a parent

16   was located was not actually where they

17   were?

18             MR. SILVER:  Objection, form.

19             MR. NAZAROV:  Join.

20       A     I think I was referring to

21   the -- I was -- can you hear me?

22       Q     Yeah.  Yeah.

23       A     Okay.  I was referring to

24   the -- the system that I used to -- to

25   find the parent.  So that was what I
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1   would be referring to, because I know

2   that that would be updated more

3   frequently, so yeah.

4       Q     Is it the ICE detainee locator?

5       A     Correct, you got it.

6       Q     So you're saying sometimes they

7   were transferred and you wouldn't have

8   that information yet?

9             MR. NAZAROV:  Objection, form.

10             THE REPORTER:  I didn't hear

11       the witness.

12 BY MS. KINDLON:

13       Q     Yes.  Could you just repeat

14   your answer.  It didn't come through.

15       A     Yes.

16       Q     And so here it says you were

17   still trying to locate s mother; is

18   that correct?

19       A     Where?

20       Q     Sorry.  In the sentence you

21   were just looking at, the end of the

22   second paragraph:  "C.M. was trying to

23   locate her to give him the chance to

24   speak with her."

25       A     And the question was?
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1       Q     Does that -- were you having

2   trouble -- based on this document and

3   your recollection, were you having

4   trouble locating 's mother?

5             MR. SILVER:  Objection.

6             MR. NAZAROV:  Join.

7       A     Yeah, like I said earlier, I

8   don't recall any of the specifics for

9   each, like, case that I had, so I don't

10   remember.

11       Q     So what does:  "C.M. was trying

12   to locate her to give her -- to give him

13   the chance to speak with her," mean to

14   you, then?

15             MR. SILVER:  Objection.

16       A     It means that the clinician

17   communicated to the minor that I was

18   trying to locate his mother to give him

19   the chance to speak to her.

20       Q     Does that mean  had not

21   spoken to his mother yet?

22             MR. SILVER:  Objection.

23       A     I don't remember, exactly, and

24   I think -- yeah, it might also be just

25   the language that was used, because it
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1   could have been that we already located

2   where she was but just haven't gotten in

3   contact with her, so I -- I don't

4   remember exactly.

5       Q     But it suggests that  and

6   his mother had been having difficulty

7   connecting?

8             MR. SILVER:  Objection.

9       A     Yes.

10       Q     And in your opinion, as case

11   manager, connection to your --

12   communication with your parent would be

13   important?

14             MR. SILVER:  Objection.

15             THE WITNESS:  Sorry.  Repeat

16       that.

17 BY MS. KINDLON:

18       Q     Just in your experience, as

19   case manager -- and we -- we still have

20   gone through this, but communication

21   between the separated childs and their

22   parent is important?

23             MR. SILVER:  Objection.

24       A     Yeah.  I mentioned earlier that

25   it was important for all of the minors
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1   that came into the Cayuga Centers

2   program, yeah.

3       Q     And, here, this is -- this

4   report is dated 5/31, and as we saw, 

5   was admitted 5/11.  So about 20 days into

6   his time at Cayuga there were -- there

7   were still difficulties establishing

8   communication with his mother?

9             MR. SILVER:  Objection.

10       A     Yeah, I don't remember exactly.

11       Q     So this document suggests there

12   might -- there may have been some

13   difficulties?

14             MR. SILVER:  Objection.

15       A     Yes.

16       Q     So if we skip ahead to the

17   report from 6/11, this is on page 7 of

18   the document.

19       A     Okay.

20       Q     The -- the first sentence says

21   that:  "CL met with minor and his older

22   sibling for the initial session to

23   administer risk assessments and the UAC

24   assessment"; do you see that?

25       A     I do, yes.
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1                     

2   that my -- something about my question was

3   not proper.

4             Unless he tells you otherwise,

5   you're free to answer my question, okay?

6             Moving on, sir.

7             Was there -- there was a change in

8   May of 2018 where you received instructions

9   to separate families to the maximum possible

10   extent; is that correct?

11        A    I don't recall specifics but I

12   believe that's correct.

13        Q    Okay.  And to your understanding,

14   that was mandatory; you were required to do

15   it?

16             MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection as to

17        form.

18        Q    You can answer.

19        A    Correct.

20        Q    Sir, I would like you to put

21   yourself back in that time frame, April and

22   May and June of 2018.

23             Can I assume that that time frame

24   stands out in your memory?

25        A    Not really, no.
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1                     

2   case was declined or not referred, no, that

3   usually wasn't relay to them.

4        Q    Okay.  So as far as if -- and I

5   will take myself out of the picture.

6             To your understanding, detainees

7   who are in cells in the Yuma Station, once

8   their prosecution gets declined, they have

9   no idea that that's happened; is that

10   correct?

11        A    For the most part.

12        Q    Are there any exceptions to that

13   rule that make you qualify your answer

14   there?

15        A    Not that I can think of unless

16   there was some sort of type of is a medical

17   issue.

18        Q    All right.  Let's switch topics,

19   sir.

20             I want to make sure I understand

21   how family units were handled as of May 2018

22   after the issuance of the guidance that we

23   reviewed a short while ago, the email that

24   was replied to by , okay?

25             So we're in that period after
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1                     

2   May 7 of 2018.  It sounds like, at that

3   point, as we've reviewed, you knew and your

4   colleagues knew that the U.S. attorneys

5   office might not prosecute family -- adults

6   that were referred prosecute -- for

7   prosecution for all the reasons that we have

8   discussed, correct?

9             MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection as to

10        form.

11        A    I mean, I wouldn't say everyone

12   was aware, but I guess according to that

13   email, some people were.

14        Q    Okay.  And you and other border

15   patrol agents, then, were aware that those

16   adults, who were not going to be prosecuted

17   or prosecution was declined, would, as we've

18   just discussed, remain in border patrol

19   custody, and it was basically status quo; is

20   that correct?

21        A    For the most part.

22        Q    And you also -- you and other

23   border patrol agents knew that people could

24   go to court and receive time served

25   sentences and then come right back to border
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2   patrol custody; is that correct?

3             MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection as to

4        form.

5        A    Can you repeat the question?

6        Q    Sure.  We discussed at length

7   before the break that people who would be

8   prosecuted for 1325 violations, if

9   prosecution was accepted, would often be --

10   receive sentences that equated to time

11   served sentences, correct?

12        A    Correct.

13        Q    And you were aware of that in May

14   of 2018; is that correct?

15        A    Correct.

16        Q    All right.  Now, as of May of

17   2018, is it accurate to say that, regardless

18   of what happened with the prosecution, your

19   directive was to separate parents and

20   children?

21             MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection as to

22        form.

23        A    Those amenable, yeah.

24        Q    Okay.  And by amenable, it sounds

25   like -- what we have reviewed is that the
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2   definition of amenable to prosecution

3   changed as of May 7th to include adults and

4   family units, correct?

5        A    According to the last email, yes.

6        Q    Okay.  And that's -- that's not

7   just in the email.

8             You recall that being the

9   directive in May of 2018; is that correct?

10        A    Aside from the email you showed

11   me, I don't recall the specific guidance I

12   received at that particular time.

13        Q    Okay.  But that email is

14   certainly -- it's not inconsistent with your

15   recollection; is that right?

16        A    Correct.

17        Q    And in fact, you told me within

18   probably the first ten minutes of this

19   deposition -- or 15 minutes of this

20   deposition, that your recollection is that,

21   as of May of 2018, your directive was

22   separate to the maximum extent possible; is

23   that correct?

24             MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection as to

25        form.
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2        A    I don't recall as to the maximum

3   extent possible.

4        Q    Adult and family units were to

5   be -- were to be separated from children as

6   of May of 2018; is that correct?

7        A    Correct.

8        Q    And let's show -- I'm going to

9   assume that you recall the flowchart that we

10   looked at.  And if you need to look, you can

11   actually go on to the eDepoze screen and

12   look at P-1.  I won't ask you to do that at

13   the present moment.

14             MR. FEINBERG:  First, I would like

15        you to introduce another exhibit which

16        is P-17.

17        A    You know what?

18             I actually got somehow logged out

19   of eDepoze.

20             MR. FEINBERG:  Okay.  Let's go off

21        the record then.

22             VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 4:10.

23        We're off the record.

24               (Whereupon, at 4:10 p.m., a recess

25               was taken to 4:14 p.m.)
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2   don't recall one way or the other when that

3   conversation took place; is that right?

4        A    No.

5        Q    In any event, after he sends the

6   email, you respond 13 minutes later and note

7   that, as I think you indicated before -- at

8   least intimated, that it's rare that the

9   adult that was initially part of the family

10   unit would go to court and return, while the

11   UAC was.  Still there.

12             Did I summarize that correctly?

13        A    Right.

14        Q    And do I understand correctly,

15   also from your email, that, even if that did

16   happen, if the adult came back to border

17   patrol custody and the child was still

18   there, the separation would remain in place?

19        A    Most likely.  Again --

20        Q    Okay.

21        A    -- I think I've outlined that it's

22   very rare or if there was any instances that

23   could even be recalled where that happened.

24        Q    Okay.  And the key phrase --

25             MR. FEINBERG:  And, in fact, Emma,
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2        can I ask you to highlight this

3        language, please, starting from however

4        in that middle paragraph?

5        Q    And, sir, you see what's

6   highlighted there in that second portion of

7   that -- or the second portion of the second

8   sentence in that middle paragraph.

9             In the rare instances would

10   that -- when this would happen where the

11   adult would come back, the unaccompanied

12   child would remain an unaccompanied child

13   and be placed at the juvenile facility

14   regardless of what happened with the adult's

15   criminal proceedings; is that correct?

16        A    Most likely.

17        Q    Is it accurate to say, then at

18   that point, that once a parent and child

19   were separated in this time frame, it did

20   not matter what happened with the

21   prosecution?

22             MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection as to

23        form and foundation.

24        A    I don't believe so.

25        Q    Well, that's -- isn't that what
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2   your email says?

3        A    I mean, that's just covering a

4   hypothetical.  It's not pointing to a

5   particular instance where it did occur.

6        Q    Well, you say, in the clause that

7   proceeds it.  I believe we have had rare

8   instances of the adult returning while the

9   UAC is in custody, right?

10             So you're describing instances

11   which you believe may have happened?

12        A    Correct.

13        Q    And in those instances, didn't

14   matter what happened with the prosecution,

15   the child was staying an unaccompanied

16   child, correct?

17        A    Again, I don't recall any

18   particulars but possibly, yes.

19        Q    Okay.  And, of course, at this

20   point in the government's treatment of

21   family units, we've already talked about the

22   directive was separation to the maximum

23   extent possible, agreed?

24        A    Yes.

25        Q    So if -- by the way let's go back
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2        Q    To your knowledge, did anyone from

3   border patrol ever go out and try to track

4   down a child after learning that a parent --

5   that prosecution had been declined for a

6   parent?

7             MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection.

8        Form.  Foundation.

9        A    No.  The child's information and

10   parent's information were entered into the

11   databases, so ERO had information on the

12   subject child.

13        Q    We'll come back to that.

14             In any event, is it fair -- fair

15   to say, sir, that everything we have just

16   been describing, about the requirement to

17   refer adults for prosecution was mandatory

18   at that time?

19        A    Based on what you have shown me,

20   yes.

21        Q    All right.  And you've got no

22   reason to disagree with any of the things

23   I've shown you; is that correct?

24        A    No.  Based on the memorandums

25   displayed here today, that was -- appear to
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2   referral happens before the minor is

3   processed.

4        Q    WA is a warrant of arrest; is that

5   correct?

6        A    Correct.

7        Q    All right.  So when an agent --

8   sorry.

9             When a minor gets a -- an ORR

10   placement, they're entered into removal

11   proceedings at the same time they're given

12   that placement; is that correct?

13        A    Correct.

14        Q    Do you know whether border patrol

15   agents have any training about how to

16   deal -- how to explain to children the

17   consequences of a -- of an ORR placement?

18        A    Training?  No.

19        Q    Yeah.

20             Okay.  Do you recall observing --

21   hang on.

22             Let me ask it a different way.  A

23   five-year-old child taken away from their

24   mother is screaming and crying about the

25   fact that they want their mom.
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2             What is an agent supposed to do?

3        A    Usually the child is placed with

4   other children of, you know, similar

5   backgrounds, and they're able to communicate

6   with each other.  Often they're given toys

7   or other amenities to help them.

8        Q    So sounds like two things:  One is

9   they're placed with other kids who are --

10   the expectation is will explain what's

11   happening to the children who've just been

12   separated.

13             Is that what you are saying?

14        A    Not explain it, but -- because

15   it's -- it is explained to them during the

16   process.  But if they're able to -- they're

17   not alone.  They're with other children.

18   They see the other children.  They're able

19   to interact and play and it usually puts

20   them at ease.

21        Q    So the consoling of children is

22   done by, one, placing them with other kids

23   and, two, giving them toys; is that correct?

24        A    I wouldn't say its consoling,

25   it's -- it's just a way to -- I don't know
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2   the right words that explain it.  But, yeah,

3   that's generally what happens.  They're

4   placed with other children and sometimes

5   that's really all it takes.

6        Q    We've seen a number of photos of

7   the children who we represent who -- and all

8   of them appear to be wearing a dark blue or

9   a navy blue t-shirt.

10             Is there a uniform or a set of

11   clothing that's given to children after

12   they've been separated from their parents?

13        A    Today or back then?

14        Q    Back then.

15        A    No.

16        Q    All right.  I'll show you some

17   photos in a little bit to see you we -- what

18   we're -- what I'm talking about.

19             Do you remember anything about

20   uniforms given to children for their -- in

21   connection with their ORR placement?

22        A    No.  The only thing I can think of

23   is we had clothing on hand.  We purchase

24   clothing.  Oftentimes, we specifically

25   purchased clothing and shoes and items for
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1                   Agent 

2 constitutional rights, the constitutional --

3 the rights of folks that you would be

4 apprehending or prosecuting?

5      A    Yes.

6      Q    Did you get any training on how to

7 work with children?

8      A    I don't recall.

9      Q    Did you get training on the

10 Trafficking Victims Protection

11 Reauthorization Act the TVPRA?

12           Do you remember?

13      A    I don't recall.

14      Q    Okay.  Did you get any training on

15 how to care for children?

16      A    During the Academy, I don't

17 believe so.

18      Q    Okay.  So I understand that there

19 are a number of different -- how long were

20 you at El Centro Station?

21      A    Eight years.

22      Q    And in those eight years, did you

23 rotate through different positions within

24 El Centro?

25      A    Yes.  Yes.
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1                   Agent 

2           Do you know what time the actual

3 initial appearances were held, was the

4 standard time?

5      A    It's varied for initial

6 appearances depending on their -- the

7 court's scheduling.

8      Q    Do you remember what it was back

9 in May of 2018?

10      A    No.

11      Q    You mentioned that, in May of

12 2018, that both you and the U.S. Attorney's

13 Office were pretty overwhelmed and were

14 taking longer to review cases and process

15 cases and decline or accept.  I was

16 wondering if you could tell me a little bit

17 more about how you sort of managed to triage

18 that.

19           Did you send smaller batches of

20 cases or, every time a case was ready, would

21 you -- or would you -- you know, I guess,

22 maybe you could talk me through how did you

23 managed that work load.

24      A    To some extent, we try to -- we

25 try to highlight any potential discrepancies



CONFIDENTIAL

212-400-8845 - Depo@TransPerfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 141

1                   Agent 

2 on the case that we might see prior to

3 them -- prior to the attorney's office

4 seeing it -- or receiving it so that they

5 can -- that can expedite their review

6 process.

7      Q    What do you mean by discrepancies?

8      A    If there was something lacking or,

9 like, for example, if something was -- I

10 don't know.  For example, like, let's say an

11 attempted case that might not have received

12 a Miranda within a -- or a Miranda warning

13 or advisement within the required time

14 frame, so your statements -- and we believe

15 that that might be an issue.  We would

16 highlight something like that or let them --

17 make them aware of it.

18      Q    So you would -- you would still

19 refer the case but you would sort of flag,

20 Hey, this person didn't get a Miranda

21 warning?

22      A    Correct.

23      Q    Would you ever not refer a case

24 based on -- at that time period, would

25 you -- would you ever not refer a case
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2 because there was, you know, a potential

3 discrepancy?

4           MR. MACWILLIAMS:  Objection.

5      Form.

6      A    Initially, no.

7      Q    Did that change at some point?

8      A    Yes.

9      Q    When did that change?

10      A    I don't recall a specific date,

11 but it was --

12      Q    Okay.

13      A    -- somewhere around that same time

14 period.

15      Q    So in May of 2018, when you had a

16 case that had a potential problem, like a

17 Miranda violation or some other potential

18 flaw in the charge, you would highlight that

19 for the U.S. Attorney's Office but you would

20 make the referral anyway?

21      A    Yes.

22      Q    You mentioned that you didn't

23 recall what the U.S. Attorney's Office

24 guidelines were about prosecuting families

25 back in May of 2018.
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2 then some of the others.  But --

3      Q    Okay.

4      A    -- the Miranda advisement, the

5 date of arrest, things of that nature just

6 to see where -- if they're still presentable

7 or what the case may be -- or I'm sorry --

8 where they were at with time frames and

9 whatnot.

10      Q    I'm sorry.

11           Where they're at with what?

12      A    Time frames and whatnot.  Like,

13 you know, if they're beyond the 48 hours,

14 something we needed to note to the attorney,

15 the Miranda advisement, things that the

16 attorneys -- we would highlight for them.

17      Q    Okay.  So I think we talked about

18 this earlier.

19           But as you reviewed the file, if

20 you noticed a problem with the Miranda

21 warnings, if you noticed that they were

22 outside the 48-hour window, you would --

23 this is in May of 2018 -- you would

24 highlight that and flag that for the U.S.

25 Attorney's Office?
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2      A    Yes, we make notes of things of

3 that nature.

4      Q    Okay.  Did you make a separate

5 determination of whether the person was

6 amenable for prosecution?

7      A    What do you mean?

8      Q    Well, the -- would you -- would

9 someone in the prosecution unit review the

10 decision that this person was amenable for

11 prosecution?

12      A    Yes, but we referred -- we would

13 refer everything to the attorney's office

14 for their ultimate review initially?

15      Q    When you -- when you say

16 initially, you mean in May of 2018?

17      A    Correct.

18      Q    Did you determine if a case had

19 enough facts to support a 1325 prosecution

20 at all?

21      A    Repeat it again.  I'm sorry.

22      Q    Sure.

23           Did you review the case file to

24 make sure that the -- there were enough

25 facts there to support a 1325 prosecution?
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1                   Agent 

2           MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection.

3      Form.  Foundation.

4      A    Yes.  It's -- I mean, if it --

5 they have nothing -- no prior histories,

6 obviously -- or we would -- I'm sorry.  We

7 would present them for '25.  But if they had

8 something other than -- you know, other

9 criminal histories or immigration histories,

10 we might present them for more charges.  So

11 that review was May.

12      Q    Sure.

13           Did you review to make sure that

14 there was enough to charge with illegal

15 entry or attempted entry?

16      A    Yes.  Initially, yes or --

17      Q    And that -- would that be an issue

18 that you would, then, flagged for the U.S.

19 Attorney's Office issue if you thought there

20 were not enough facts to support the charge?

21      A    We wouldn't -- well, we

22 wouldn't -- I don't think that's stated

23 correctly.  It's not --

24      Q    Okay.

25      A    -- that we would -- it's not that
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2 we would flag the -- whether there was

3 enough facts to support the charge.  The

4 charge was the illegal entry, so that was --

5 that was there.  It's just a matter of

6 highlighting different elements of the

7 charge and things that the attorney --

8 assistant attorney make it a more expedited

9 review.

10      Q    Okay.  So areas of concern or

11 things they should look at more closely?

12      A    Correct.

13      Q    Okay.  So my understanding, then,

14 is your instructions back in May 2018 is, if

15 you noticed a problem with a criminal case,

16 your instructions were to refer those

17 cases -- to still refer those case to the

18 U.S. Attorney's Office but to highlight the

19 areas of concern for the U.S. Attorney's

20 Office to review?

21           MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection.

22      A    Correct.

23           THE WITNESS:  Sorry.

24      Q    I think you've already said this

25 but you -- did you determine whether or not
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2 the Miranda warnings were timely given?

3      A    Generally, yes --

4           (Cross-talking.)

5      A    -- I believe so.

6      Q    And did your office -- your agency

7 supervise come up -- ever come across files

8 where the Miranda warnings were not timely?

9           MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection.

10      Form.

11      A    I believe so.

12      Q    And in May of 2018, were your

13 instructions, then, to, again, sort of flag

14 that issue for the U.S. attorney but

15 nevertheless refer the criminal case to

16 them?

17      A    Correct.

18      Q    What do expect -- what did you

19 expect the U.S. Attorney's Office to do with

20 those cases where, for example, there was no

21 Miranda warning given?

22           MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection.

23      Form.  Foundation.

24      A    I expect them to do their review

25 process and then give us the ultimate
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2      Q    Okay.  If a case didn't meet the

3 U.S. attorney's guidelines, would you still

4 refer the case but highlight the issue for

5 the U.S. Attorney's Office back in May of

6 2018?

7      A    Yes.

8           MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection.

9      Objection.  Form.

10      Q    Okay.  Did you -- did the

11 prosecution unit make any determination,

12 before sending it over, whether the case

13 would likely be accepted for prosecution?

14      A    Not initially.

15      Q    At some point, did you?

16      A    Eventually, we were given some

17 leeway in regards to presenting or assisting

18 in presenting only those that were -- didn't

19 have discrepancies, I guess.

20      Q    Do you remember when that was?

21      A    Some time during 2018 after

22 this -- after May.  I don't recall a

23 specific time.

24      Q    Okay.  Okay.  Would you make any

25 determination about whether the court, the
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2      Objection.  Form.  Foundation.

3      A    It's generally yes.

4      Q    And what happened if you reached

5 the cap?

6      A    Again, I don't recall if we ever

7 did or not, so I don't recall what -- what

8 occurred.

9      Q    Okay.  Were there any situations

10 back in May of 2018 where you would not

11 refer a case that was given to you by the

12 processing?

13      A    In May 2018.

14      Q    Uh-huh.

15      A    Not that I can recall.

16      Q    And was that basically from

17 instructions and from your chain of command

18 to refer all these cases?

19      A    Initially, yes.

20           MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection.

21      Objection.  Form.

22      Q    And you say initially because you

23 mentioned earlier that, at some point, you

24 were given more leeway about screening cases

25 and not presenting all cases?
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2      A    Correct.

3      Q    Do you need some water or

4 anything?

5           Are you okay?

6      A    I -- sometimes during this date --

7 about this time allergies start kicking in

8 so I'm okay.

9      Q    Okay.

10      A    Sorry.

11      Q    If you need -- no, no.  No.

12           If you need a break just -- or for

13 water or anything, let I -- let me know.

14      A    Okay.

15      Q    So it sounds like, during that

16 time, you didn't have any authority to

17 refuse to refer cases to the U.S. Attorney's

18 Office in May of 2018?

19           MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection.

20      Form.

21      A    Correct.  We don't make a

22 determination on cases.  We -- whenever is

23 presented to us is presented to the

24 attorney's office.

25      Q    You mentioned that you prepare
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2 you can take my word for it.

3           There is no e3 printout for this

4 case.

5           MS. WINGER:  And, Julia, if you

6      want to introduce P42?

7      Q    You'll see here is an email from

8 your attorney, Mr. MacWilliams, explaining

9 that the -- that for V.C. -- and I will

10 represent to you that that's 

11 , and also our client 

12 , who we'll talk about in a minute,

13 the prosecution disposition forms were not

14 found in e3.

15           Is it is fair to say that if there

16 is no e3 referral, that Ms.  was

17 never referred for prosecution?

18           MR. MACWILLIAMS:  Objection.

19      Form.  Foundation.

20      A    We never -- yeah.  So it wouldn't

21 have come -- she -- it's possible she didn't

22 came through our unit because we didn't

23 input into the -- into the module.

24      Q    Okay.  So if she came through your

25 unit, she would have gone into the e3
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2 module?

3  A  Yes.

4  Q  And she would have had to go

5 through your unit in order to be referred

6 for prosecution?

7  A    Correct.

8  Q    Okay.  If Ms.  was never

9 even referred for prosecution, why was she

10 separated from her son?

11  MR. MACWILLIAMS:  Objection.

12  Form.  Foundation.

13  A    I can't answer that.

14   Q    All right.  Let's pull up P35,

15 Julia.

16   Again, this is another subject

17 activity log.  This is for 

18 .

19   Well -- and, again, I'm going to

20 ask you to jump right to Page 7, okay?

21  A    Yes.  Okay.

22   Q    You go -- this is the beginning of

23 the I-213.  I'm going to have you jump right

24 to Page 8.  And it -- and I'm actually

25 sorry.  I'm going to refer to you Page 9.



CONFIDENTIAL

212-400-8845 - Depo@TransPerfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 295

1  Agent 

2   Q    And so in this case, we're already

3 past the 48-hour mark; is that right?

4  MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection.

5  Q    When the processing was complete?

6  MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection.

7  Form.  Foundation.

8   Q    Let me -- let me do the question

9 over again.

10   Based on the information in this

11 exhibit that says the processing was

12 complete at 4:08 p.m., that's past -- that's

13 more than 48 hours after the time that this

14 individual was apprehended; is that right?

15  A    Yes.

16   Q    Would that -- the fact that the

17 prosecution unit would pick up a case file

18 that was -- where the 48-hour point had

19 already been reached, would that trigger

20 anything within the prosecution unit as far

21 as whether or not to prepare a complaint and

22 a referral to the U.S. Attorney's Office?

23  A  Not initially.

24  Q  What do you mean by initially?

25  A  So we would still refer everything
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2 to the attorney's office for them to make

3 that review and then -- and, again,

4 highlight any discrepancies and have them --

5 or possible discrepancies for them to

6 expedite the review process.  And so we

7 would just refer it to the -- for them to

8 make the decision.

9      Q    So if I understand, I think the

10 instructions through the chain of command at

11 this time in May was to refer all of the

12 cases for prosecution irrespective of

13 whether there might be an issue related to

14 timeliness like this, correct?

15      A    Correct.  We would refer

16 everything so to the attorney could review

17 it and make a decision.

18      Q    I would like show you what's been

19 previously marked as Exhibit P60.

20           Again, I'm sorry.  This is the

21 best screen shot we have here and you're

22 going to have to zoom in on it a little bit.

23           But this is the e3 prosecutions

24 entry for Mr. ; is that right?

25      A    Yes.
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2 further questions.                                  

3            Is it accurate to say, sir, that         

4 prior to May of 2018, Yuma Sector separated         

5 families in limited circumstances as described      

6 in what we've just reviewed?                        

7      A.    And, yes, that was what I said, was      

8 that we separated families on a case-by-case        

9 basis.                                              

10      Q.    Okay.  In May of 2018, was there a       

11 change to the degree to which you would separate    

12 families?                                           

13            MR. MacWILLIAMS:  Objection; form.       

14 BY MR. FEINBERG:                                    

15      Q.    Answer, please.                          

16      A.    So I believe in April or -- in late      

17 April, the Attorney General issued a directive      

18 that the US Attorneys Office would accept all       

19 cases for illegal entry, and the Border Patrol      

20 issued a directive to refer all amenable illegal    

21 entrants for a prosecution on those criminal        

22 charges.                                            

23      Q.    The change also was with regard to       

24 family units.  Is that correct?                     

25      A.    The change was -- the direction was      
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2 that we'd refer all subjects that were alleged      

3 to have illegally entered the United States         

4 regardless of their family unit status.             

5      Q.    Were there any exceptions to that        

6 directive?                                          

7      A.    I believe in the initial iteration,      

8 that we excluded anyone with a child, that was      

9 traveling with a child under the age of four.       

10      Q.    What other exceptions were there?        

11      A.    I don't recall any lined out             

12 exceptions besides that condition.                  

13      Q.    Okay.  Does that mean, sir, that any     

14 adult who was found to have entered the country     

15 without inspection -- I'm sorry, let me restate     

16 that.  Let me ask this, sir:                        

17            What does "amenable" mean?               

18      A.    "Subject to."                            

19      Q.    What does -- well, I'm not asking you    

20 to give me a dictionary definition.  You used a     

21 phrase "amenable to prosecution."  What does        

22 that mean, to your understanding?                   

23      A.    For me, that would -- my                 

24 understanding would be that anyone that is          

25 presumed, based on the evidence that we had at      
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2 hand, to have violated a known statute would 

3 have been referred.  

4 Q. Would it be accurate to say then that

5 an adult is amenable to prosecution if they have 

6 not entered at a port of entry, meaning that  

7 they can be prosecuted, right?  

8 A. So if that adult is an illegal alien

9 who has no right to be or remain in the  

10 United States, is not a citizen or national of  

11 the United States, has no documents showing that 

12 they've been admitted, and entered in between a  

13 port of entry without inspection, then, yes,  

14 they have violated several of the criteria in  

15 the illegal entry statute.  

16 Q. Under the directives that were issued

17 in May of 2018, any adult in a family unit would 

18 be amenable to prosecution, is that correct,  

19 except for adults with children four and under?  

20 A. Correct.

21 Q. The question of amenable to

22 prosecution is a different question from whether 

23 a person will actually be prosecuted.  Is that  

24 correct, sir?  

25 A. Yes.
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2      Q.    Have you ever worked in the              

3 Prosecutions Unit for Yuma?                         

4      A.    I have not.                              

5      Q.    Are you familiar with the legal          

6 requirements for a prosecution under                

7 Section 1325?                                       

8      A.    Never having worked in the               

9 Prosecution Unit, I have a familiarity of what      

10 it takes.                                           

11      Q.    Did you ever participate in meetings     

12 or trainings with the US Attorneys Office about     

13 preparing a case for prosecution?                   

14      A.    At that time, I -- I don't recall.  I    

15 know I've met with the US Attorneys Office.  On     

16 several occasions, they've come out and given       

17 training sessions, but I don't recall whether       

18 they were before or after this time frame.          

19      Q.    Are you familiar with any of the         

20 reasons that would be cited by the US Attorneys     

21 Office for declining to prosecute cases?            

22      A.    I am.                                    

23      Q.    Can you give me an example of one of     

24 those reasons why a case might be declined.         

25      A.    A timeliness issue.                      
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2 when the Prosecutions Unit had to refer cases to    

3 the US Attorneys Office?                            

4      A.    So my understanding is that these        

5 subjects needed to be presented in front of a       

6 magistrate within 48 hours of their arrest, so      

7 the referral to the US Attorneys Office would       

8 need to happen in a timely manner to permit         

9 that.                                               

10      Q.    Did you have any understanding about     

11 a specific time of day by which the Prosecutions    

12 Unit was expected to refer cases to the             

13 US Attorneys Office?                                

14      A.    I don't recall a specific hour or        

15 time, but it was early in the morning that day      

16 that they needed to refer -- they needed to         

17 draft complaints and refer all of those             

18 complaints and documents over to the US attorney    

19 that was on duty on authorizing the                 

20 prosecutions.                                       

21      Q.    And was it your understanding that       

22 the US Attorneys Office would email a response      

23 back to the prosecution referral within a matter    

24 of hours?                                           

25            MR. MacWILLIAMS:  Objection;             
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2 pardon me, I read the wrong portion -- pursuing     

3 criminal prosecution and seeking placement of a     

4 minor with ORR?                                     

5      A.    So, as we discussed, during early        

6 May, we began referring all amenable single         

7 adults who had violated 8 USC 1325 for              

8 prosecution if we were able to present them in a    

9 timely manner and they didn't -- were not           

10 traveling with a minor -- with a minor child        

11 that was under the age of four or five, I           

12 believe, and did not have any compelling            

13 humanitarian concerns that would prevent their      

14 prosecution.                                        

15      Q.    So the directive at that time was to     

16 refer all amenable single adults -- all amenable    

17 adults, correct?                                    

18      A.    That did not have the young minor        

19 child with them and did not have any other          

20 humanitarian concerns, yes.                         

21      Q.    Okay, and let me review.  That was a     

22 bad question the way I asked it before, so let      

23 me try to state that again.                         

24            I think you identified three             

25 qualifiers to the directive to refer amenable       
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2 adults.  One was in a timely manner, two was if     

3 they had a child four years or younger, and         

4 three was if there were other compelling            

5 humanitarian concerns.  Is that correct?            

6      A.    Yes.                                     

7      Q.    Were there any other factors that        

8 would justify an exception to that rule             

9 requiring the referral of all amenable adults?      

10      A.    Not that I recall.                       

11      Q.    What did you mean when you said in a     

12 timely manner?                                      

13      A.    Say if the prosecution case could be     

14 referred to the US Attorneys Office within the      

15 time frame.                                         

16      Q.    What time frame are you referring to?    

17      A.    That would be the 48-hour time frame.    

18      Q.    Sir, I'll just note rather than          

19 showing you testimony, I will represent to you      

20 that Gabriel Ramirez, who I mentioned to you        

21 before, testified that in this time period, he      

22 was instructed to refer every case to the US        

23 Attorneys Office regardless of whether the          

24 48 hours had passed.  Does that sound familiar      

25 to you?                                             
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2      A.    I do believe at one point we were        

3 directed to refer all cases to the US Attorneys     

4 Office, now that you mention it.                    

5      Q.    Okay.  Now, I understand you were not    

6 in the Prosecutions Unit.  Is that correct?         

7      A.    Correct.                                 

8      Q.    And would you -- given that that was     

9 not your role, would you trust Mr. Ramirez's        

10 representation about what he was instructed more    

11 than your own recollection?                         

12      A.    Yes.                                     

13      Q.    In other words, if Ramirez says this     

14 is what we were supposed to do, you'd have no       

15 reason to dispute what he's saying, right?          

16      A.    I would have no reason to doubt his      

17 recollection.                                       

18      Q.    Okay.  So then let's move on from        

19 that qualifier.                                     

20            Four-year-olds or younger, that was a    

21 straightforward determination.  Is that correct?    

22      A.    How do you mean?                         

23      Q.    Yeah, let me restate that question.      

24 That's fair.                                        

25            If you determined an adult shows up      
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2 with a child, part of a family unit, who is four    

3 or younger, that adult's not getting referred       

4 for prosecution.  Is that correct?                  

5      A.    That was correct.                        

6      Q.    That's an absolute rule, right?          

7 There were no exceptions to that rule.              

8      A.    I don't know that that was an            

9 absolute rule.  I can't say with any degree of      

10 certainty five years later that no one with a       

11 four-year-old child was presented for               

12 prosecution during that time frame.  Someone may    

13 have had criminal activity that required them to    

14 be separated and referred for prosecution, so I     

15 can't say with any degree of certainty that that    

16 never happened.                                     

17      Q.    Okay.  And that would have been a        

18 rare exception to that rule.  Is that correct?      

19      A.    I can't say how rare that would have     

20 been five years on.                                 

21      Q.    I'll come back to that.                  

22            The other factor that you mentioned      

23 was compelling humanitarian concerns?  Did I        

24 hear you correctly?                                 

25      A.    Yes.                                     
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2      Q.    What does that mean?                     

3      A.    So I would characterize someone with     

4 a medical issue, someone with a child that          

5 required -- that had special needs, someone that    

6 had an elderly parent that also had additional      

7 care needs, those types of situations would have    

8 been evaluated on a case-by-case basis.             

9      Q.    Can you tell me in the period of May     

10 and June of 2018 -- and, by the way, before I       

11 ask that question, I may have misspoken before.     

12 I think I used the phrase April through June.       

13 It ought to be clear we're talking about May and    

14 June of 2018 after the con ops memo was issued.     

15            Do you understand what I said?           

16      A.    I do.  I believe I prefaced my first     

17 answer regarding May and beyond.                    

18      Q.    Thank you, and I appreciate knowing      

19 that we're on the same time period.                 

20            Can you tell me how many people were     

21 subjected to that humanitarian determination        

22 based on the factors that you outline, including    

23 medical issues, a child with special needs, or      

24 an elderly parent?                                  

25      A.    I don't recall an exact number, but I    
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2 recall there being an email that evaluated the      

3 number of people coming through, and it was         

4 somewhere around half were excluded from            

5 referral for prosecution.                           

6      Q.    On what basis?                           

7      A.    I don't recall what the basis was,       

8 but that only about half of the amenable adults     

9 that came through during that time frame were       

10 referred for prosecution.                           

11      Q.    Okay.  On that --                        

12      A.    It may have been 40 percent or 50.  I    

13 don't recall.  Somewhere in that range.             

14      Q.    All right.  Let me ask you to bear       

15 with me for just one moment, sir.                   

16            Are you able to say, sir, how many of    

17 those families that were not separated due to       

18 humanitarian concerns were not separated because    

19 there was a child four years and under versus       

20 one of the other factors that you mentioned?        

21      A.    I do not recall whether there was        

22 that level of granularity in that analysis.         

23      Q.    Do you have any data on that issue?      

24      A.    Not -- not with me or not available      

25 to me readily.                                      
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2      Q.    Do you have -- do you know of anyone     

3 who might have that data?                           

4      A.    I don't know if that type of analysis    

5 ever --                                             

6            (Technical interruption.)                

7            MR. FEINBERG:  All right, I'm going      

8      to pause for a minute or so until we get       

9      him back.                                      

10 BY MR. FEINBERG:                                    

11      Q.    Sir, you froze for a little bit, so      

12 I'm going to pause for another 60 seconds or so     

13 and then come back to you.                          

14            Mr. Jordan, can you hear me?             

15      A.    Yes, I can hear you.                     

16      Q.    Okay.  Let me restate the last           

17 question I asked.                                   

18            Are you aware of anyone who collected    

19 data on the reasons why people not have been        

20 separated for humanitarian -- on a humanitarian     

21 basis?                                              

22      A.    So five years later, I do not recall     

23 if anyone collected that data.                      

24      Q.    So if -- let's just -- let's recap       

25 what makes up the humanitarian reason for not       
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2 separating a family.  One factor is a child four    

3 years or younger.  Is that correct?                 

4      A.    Yes.                                     

5      Q.    That factor, just to confirm, was        

6 considered within this humanitarian category.       

7 Is that correct?                                    

8      A.    Yes.                                     

9      Q.    One other factor was a serious           

10 medical issue.  Is that correct?                    

11      A.    Yes.                                     

12      Q.    That's something that would require      

13 hospitalization?                                    

14      A.    Yes, something that would require        

15 hospitalization or a chronic condition that         

16 didn't require hospitalization, but required        

17 constant assistance.                                

18      Q.    The third factor --                      

19      A.    [Indiscernible] --                       

20      Q.    I'm sorry, I spoke over you.             

21 Continue, please.                                   

22      A.    I was going to say someone with          

23 mobility issues, someone with impairments,          

24 something of that.                                  

25      Q.    The third factor was a child with        
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2 special needs.  Is that correct?                    

3      A.    Yes.                                     

4      Q.    The fourth factor was someone with an    

5 elderly parent.  Is that right?                     

6      A.    Not necessarily an elderly parent,       

7 but a parent -- parent or other relative that       

8 was dependent on someone in that family unit for    

9 their daily care.                                   

10      Q.    Got it, all right.  And, by the way,     

11 we were talking about someone else within that      

12 family unit.  We have a parent and child, and       

13 then another member of that family unit.  That's    

14 who you're referring to.  Is that correct?          

15      A.    So if we had a grandparent, the          

16 grandparent wouldn't be a part of the family        

17 unit as the Border Patrol defines it, but that      

18 may be another factor that was taken into           

19 account to make that humanitarian decision.         

20      Q.    What other factors would be              

21 considered besides the ones that we've              

22 mentioned?                                          

23      A.    I -- anything else that was apparent     

24 to the agents and supervisors at the time.          

25      Q.    Can you give me an example of            
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2 anything else?                                      

3      A.    I can't think of anything else at        

4 this time.                                          

5      Q.    Was there any specific guidance          

6 issued to agents about what would constitute one    

7 of these humanitarian factors?                      

8      A.    I don't recall issuing any specific      

9 guidance other than the age factors.  Agents        

10 were instructed to raise these issues as they       

11 encountered them to their supervisors, and the      

12 supervisors would make the evaluations.             

13      Q.    When you made -- when you're talking     

14 about supervisors, are you talking about the        

15 supervisory Border Patrol agents or are you         

16 talking about someone at your level?                

17      A.    The supervisory Border Patrol agents.    

18      Q.    So, for instance, Joseph Comella, who    

19 we've already identified, he is one who would be    

20 in the position to make the decision about          

21 whether one of these bases would justify not        

22 separating.  Is that correct?                       

23      A.    Correct.                                 

24      Q.    Do you know whether -- and I may have    

25 already said this.                                  
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2 sir, that you sent to Casey Roloff on June 29th     

3 of 2018?                                            

4      A.    It appears to be, yes.                   

5      Q.    Did you review this email in             

6 preparation for this deposition?                    

7      A.    No, I have not.                          

8      Q.    Having reviewed the statistics --        

9 well, first, can we agree that when you sent        

10 this email, you were discussing the total number    

11 of apprehended family units, the total number of    

12 separated family units, and then drawing some       

13 conclusions from there?                             

14      A.    I don't know that I drew any             

15 conclusions.  I believe these are just              

16 fact-based representations of what the data         

17 showed.                                             

18      Q.    That's a bad question.  Let me -- you    

19 mention in this email, the bottom bullet, which     

20 is indented to the right of the others:             

21            "Over 40 percent of the family units     

22      encountered during this time frame were not    

23      separated due to humanitarian reasons."        

24            Is that correct?                         

25      A.    That is what I read here on the          
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2 exhibit, yes.                                       

3      Q.    And is that consistent with your         

4 recollection?                                       

5      A.    That is consistent with my               

6 recollection, yes.                                  

7      Q.    I say that because I think you used      

8 the figure 40 percent a short while ago in your     

9 testimony.                                          

10            So is it correct to say that you have    

11 a general recollection that 40 percent of           

12 families, give or take, were not separated?  Is     

13 that right?                                         

14      A.    Yes.                                     

15      Q.    All right.  In terms of where that       

16 40 percent number comes from, this calculation      

17 doesn't appear, but if 664 family units were        

18 separated out of 1,142 apprehended, that means      

19 that 478 were not apprehended.  Can I ask you to    

20 trust my math?                                      

21      A.    I believe you misspoke, sir.  They       

22 were all apprehended.                               

23      Q.    Okay, you're right, I did misspeak.      

24            1,142 apprehended, 664 separated.  Is    

25 that correct?                                       
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2      A.    According to the document, yes.          

3      Q.    Okay.  Meaning 478 not separated.        

4      A.    Looks good, yes.                         

5      Q.    All right.  478 I calculate as being     

6 just under 42 percent of that 1,142 number.         

7 Will you accept my representation on that?          

8      A.    Okay.                                    

9      Q.    All right.  So when you were saying      

10 40 percent of the family units encountered were     

11 not separated, that's how you did that              

12 calculation.  Is that correct?                      

13      A.    I believe so.  I do not recall           

14 exactly how I came up with the math, and it does    

15 not appear that I showed my work here.              

16      Q.    And sitting here today, you can't        

17 tell us how many of those 478 were not separated    

18 because of a child four or under or some other      

19 reason.  Is that correct?                           

20      A.    That is correct.  So looking at the      

21 reasons for non-referral on the next page, it       

22 does not have that level of granularity.            

23      Q.    Okay.  So would you agree it's           

24 entirely possible that all of those -- what's       

25 the number I used, 478?  All those 478 could        
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2 have not been separated because they presented 

3 with a child four or under?  

4 A. I would not feel comfortable opining

5 about that type of thing.  It could very easily 

6 be impugned with empirical data.  I do not have 

7 that empirical data in front of me, and I -- so 

8 I would not give an opinion on that.  

9 Q. Okay.

10 A. It's something that could be easily

11 refuted and... 

12 Q. Well, you're saying it could be

13 easily refuted.  Do you know of anyone who has 

14 that data who could refute you? 

15 A. No, not that I'm aware of.

16 Q. All right, sir.  So we got on that

17 topic in talking about the portion of the expert 

18 disclosure which regards the timing of decisions 

19 made during the processing of non-citizens,  

20 including pursuing criminal prosecution and  

21 seeking placement in ORR.  

22   What we've just covered is the  

23 determinations about prosecutions, and I won't 

24 rehash all that testimony except to ask you  

25 this:  
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2      A.    When have we not agreed on that?         

3      Q.    I guess we haven't.  So you're           

4 confirming that as long as Border Patrol has        

5 determined that someone has entered the country     

6 unlawfully, you, meaning Border Patrol, believe     

7 that person was amenable to prosecution.            

8      A.    Yes.                                     

9      Q.    Okay.  Let's go onto the other topic     

10 which we left hanging, which was timing of          

11 decisions regarding seeking placement of a minor    

12 with ORR.  How did that work in May and June of     

13 2018?                                               

14      A.    That worked as it always had.  So any    

15 minors that were deemed to be unaccompanied were    

16 referred to the Office of Refugee Resettlement      

17 as soon as practical.                               

18      Q.    When was the determination made that     

19 a child would be deemed unaccompanied?              

20      A.    When we brought those people in, they    

21 would be booked in, the intake procedures would     

22 happen, record checks would be run, and a           

23 determination would be made on whether or not       

24 the adult in that family unit was going to be       

25 prosecuted.                                         
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2            (Technical interruption.)                

3            MR. FEINBERG:  All right.  We'll         

4      pause for a bit.                               

5            (Off the written record.)                

6 BY MR. FEINBERG:                                    

7      Q.    Okay, let's give it a try, sir.  I'm     

8 going to ask you to repeat the answer that you      

9 started to give because I believe we lost you.      

10      A.    Yeah, you still are frozen there.        

11      Q.    I'll give it some more time then.        

12            Can you hear me now, sir?                

13      A.    I can hear you, yes.                     

14      Q.    Let's start over.                        

15            When in the process would the            

16 determination be made that a child was a UAC?       

17      A.    So when the agents and supervisors       

18 assigned to the PST determined that the adult in    

19 that family was going to be prosecuted, the         

20 child would be determined to be a UAC, and they     

21 would be referred to the Office of Refugee          

22 Resettlement for placement.                         

23      Q.    When you say, sir, going to be           

24 prosecuted, do you mean going to be referred for    

25 prosecution?                                        
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2      A.    So yes.  So once we determine that we    

3 intended to refer that adult for prosecution,       

4 there would be no one to care for that child,       

5 and we would refer that child to the Office of      

6 Refugee Resettlement as soon as practical.          

7      Q.    Make sure I understand that.             

8            So the moment a decision was made        

9 that you intended -- when I say you, I mean         

10 Border Patrol collectively -- intended to refer     

11 for prosecution, that was when the child became     

12 a UAC.  Is that correct?                            

13      A.    That's not what I said.  I said as       

14 soon as practical they would be referred to the     

15 Office of Refugee Resettlement.                     

16      Q.    What does that mean, as soon as          

17 practical?                                          

18      A.    So the children may have been -- just    

19 as a matter of efficiency, the children may have    

20 been referred in batches as an agent became free    

21 to make those referrals to -- your                  

22 characterization of "at the moment" is somewhat     

23 inaccurate.                                         

24      Q.    Okay.  So was that standard practice     

25 that children would be referred in batches?         
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2      A.    Yes.  So as the -- someone became        

3 free to make the referrals, they would make the     

4 referrals of several children at once and go        

5 through that process.                               

6      Q.    Is it accurate to say that once the      

7 decision was made to refer the parent, then it      

8 became the intent of Border Patrol to obtain the    

9 ORR referral?                                       

10      A.    Yes.                                     

11      Q.    When it happened would depend on         

12 factors as you've mentioned.  Is that correct?      

13      A.    Would depend on workflow, manpower       

14 availability, and other tasks.  There's other       

15 priorities of dealing with the detention and        

16 care of everyone there in the facility, yes.        

17      Q.    But bottom line, once the agent says     

18 this parent's getting referred or determines        

19 this parent's getting referred, then the            

20 intention is refer the child, correct?              

21      A.    Correct.                                 

22      Q.    What other factors besides agent         

23 availability would impact the timing of when        

24 that referral was made?                             

25      A.    The amount of people coming into the     
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2      Q.    Okay.  And that even if their parent     

3 was still in Border Patrol custody, you made the    

4 determination that you wanted to move the child     

5 to a facility that in your words could care for     

6 their needs, correct?                               

7      A.    So that is if we had made the            

8 determination that we intended to prosecute or      

9 refer that adult for prosecution, then, yes, we     

10 made the decision to refer the child for            

11 placement with the Office of Refugee                

12 Resettlement because we believed that that          

13 parent would be sent to the US Marshal Service      

14 and would be prosecuted for their alleged           

15 crimes.                                             

16      Q.    All right, we'll come back to that.      

17            First, was the decision motivated by     

18 any legal rule or legal obligation that you're      

19 aware of?                                           

20      A.    So there are multiple court orders       

21 that charge us with moving children out of our      

22 facilities as soon as practical, and our own        

23 policies require us to move detainees out as        

24 soon as possible as well.                           

25      Q.    Policies, are those regarding all        
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2            MR. FEINBERG:  We've got a freezing      

3      situation here.  Let's give it a little        

4      bit.                                           

5            (Off the written record.)                

6 BY MR. FEINBERG:                                    

7      Q.    Okay.  I think we got your last          

8 answer on the record.  Let's pick up with my        

9 next question.                                      

10            I want to go back, sir, to your          

11 testimony about the decision to refer a child to    

12 ORR once you've decided to refer the adult for      

13 prosecution, okay?                                  

14            Was the result of that prosecution       

15 referral ever a factor that you considered?         

16      A.    So we would not know what the results    

17 of the prosecution would be in a timely enough      

18 manner for us to move the children out.             

19      Q.    Okay.  You said the result of the        

20 prosecution.  I want to be very specific.  I'm      

21 asking about the prosecution referral.  Do you      

22 understand what I mean by that, that                

23 distinction?                                        

24      A.    No.  Please elaborate.                   

25      Q.    Sure.  When Border Patrol refers a       
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2 case to the US Attorneys Office, would you agree    

3 that the US Attorneys Office has two things it      

4 can do; one, it can accept the case for             

5 prosecution or, two, it can decline to prosecute    

6 the case?                                           

7      A.    So I believe that the US Attorneys       

8 Office has more options when a case is presented    

9 to them.  I don't think it is a binary decision.    

10 I think that they can refer a case back for         

11 additional follow-up investigation.  And there      

12 are other avenues of presenting a prosecution       

13 that don't involve a direct indictment and/or       

14 prosecution, so I think that's somewhat             

15 inaccurate.                                         

16      Q.    Okay.  Well, then let's use your         

17 understanding then.                                 

18            Would Border Patrol ever take into       

19 consideration that the US Attorneys Office could    

20 have done any number of things with the referral    

21 for prosecution?                                    

22      A.    So that was not practical for us to      

23 wait on the pendency of the US Attorneys Office     

24 and their decision to prosecute based on the        

25 amount of juveniles that we had in custody and      
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2 just the overall volume of detainees that we had    

3 in our station at that time.                        

4      Q.    Okay.  So let me just give you a         

5 hypothetical case.                                  

6            If an adult and child come in to the     

7 facility, Border Patrol decides it's going to       

8 refer the adult, and the -- that means the child    

9 is going to be referred to ORR, correct?            

10      A.    Yes.                                     

11      Q.    If your Prosecutions Unit sends it to    

12 the US Attorneys Office, that particular adult,     

13 and the US Attorneys Office says "Wait a second,    

14 you didn't collect the right evidence, you          

15 didn't give Miranda warnings in time, we can't      

16 prosecute the case."                                

17            Do you follow the hypothetical that      

18 I'm explaining here?                                

19      A.    I follow you, yes.                       

20      Q.    Yeah.  What you're saying is is that     

21 that wouldn't matter at all.  The child would       

22 have been referred to ORR, that's the end of the    

23 story.  Is that correct?                            

24      A.    No.  I'm saying that the child would     

25 have been referred before that information or       
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2 interaction with the US Attorneys Office ever       

3 happened, and it was most likely that that child    

4 would have already been picked up by ORR and be     

5 gone before this ever occurred.                     

6      Q.    So if the parent was never               

7 prosecuted, would the justification for             

8 declaring the child a UAC still be a valid          

9 justification?                                      

10      A.    At the time that we declare the child    

11 a UAC, we had every intention of prosecuting --     

12 or referring that individual for prosecution.       

13      Q.    Okay.  And that's just --                

14      A.    As you --                                

15      Q.    I'm sorry, continue, please.             

16      A.    As you saw from the data that you        

17 brought up in the email earlier, obviously we       

18 didn't refer a large portion, that 40 percent,      

19 for prosecution for various reasons.                

20      Q.    So what you're saying, and let's         

21 confirm this, it was that the intention to          

22 prosecute an adult meant that the child became a    

23 UAC.  Is that correct?                              

24      A.    We can reasonably expect that the        

25 parent would not be there to care for the child,    
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2 yes.                                                

3      Q.    And if the adult was never               

4 prosecuted, that wouldn't change anything.  Is      

5 that correct?                                       

6      A.    No.  What -- if the child was -- if      

7 the child was referred to ORR, they would be        

8 picked up.  Whether or not the parent was there,    

9 we often didn't know whether the parent was --      

10 what was going to come of the parent's case.        

11      Q.    So and I think we're saying the same     

12 thing, sir.                                         

13            So once the child is sent off to ORR,    

14 if the parent is not prosecuted, it's -- did you    

15 ever rescind the ORR designation or UAC             

16 designation?                                        

17      A.    Sir, not that I'm aware of.              

18      Q.    Okay.  So, in other words, to go back    

19 to the way I was trying to word my previous         

20 question, once Border Patrol decides that it        

21 is -- it intends to prosecute someone, that is      

22 the end of the analysis as to whether someone       

23 becomes a UAC -- a child becomes a UAC, correct?    

24      A.    So in the majority of these cases,       

25 yes, that was -- we had to -- for the welfare of    
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2            Prior to that, Border Patrol             

3 typically only encountered adult males              

4 primarily, so the facilities were built for         

5 that.  They weren't engineered or designed to       

6 house children for any long-term detention.  So     

7 we've always strived to get the children through    

8 our facilities and get them to an                   

9 age-appropriate facility as soon as practical.      

10      Q.    And so far in your testimony, you        

11 referenced the TVPRA.  Are you familiar with        

12 that statute?                                       

13      A.    Yes.                                     

14      Q.    And would you agree that the statute     

15 states that a UAC should be in ORR custody          

16 within 72 hours?                                    

17            MR. FEINBERG:  Objection to the form.    

18 BY MR. MacWILLIAMS:                                 

19      Q.    You can answer.                          

20      A.    Yes, I agree.                            

21      Q.    Okay.  And your recollection of          

22 Flores requires transfer as well.  Is there a       

23 period of time frame, or remind me again what       

24 your testimony was regarding Flores.                

25      A.    I believe Flores says as soon as         
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2 placement into ORR begins to run?

3      A    My understanding is, as soon as

4 you encounter the unaccompanied alien child,

5 the clock begins to tick for the 72 hours

6 mandatory by TVPRA.

7      Q    And that encounter with a UAC is

8 at the moment that they are apprehended and

9 the parent is amenable for prosecution.

10           Is that how I'm understanding what

11 you have said?

12      A    Again, my understanding is

13 immediately upon the encounter with the

14 child, if the adult is amenable, then the

15 clock starts ticking at that point.  That's

16 my understanding.

17      Q    Okay.  Well, let's talk then, when

18 you say amenable to prosecution, what does

19 that term mean?

20      A    That they -- that they can be

21 prosecuted.

22      Q    They can be prosecuted but they

23 have not yet been referred for prosecution.

24           Is that how I'm understanding what

25 you are -- what you're saying?
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2      A    That's my understanding, yes.

3      Q    If the parent is never actually

4 referred for prosecution after they have

5 been picked up by Border Patrol for

6 potential illegal crossing into the United

7 States, do they cease to be amenable for

8 prosecution?

9      A    I'm sorry.  I don't understand

10 your question.

11      Q    Sure.  So, for example, if a

12 person has been referred for prosecution but

13 the DOJ declines to prosecute, does Border

14 Patrol still consider the parent to be

15 amenable for prosecution?

16      A    Yes.  Also, I'm getting some

17 background noise.  I'm sorry.  I'm not sure

18 from where.

19      Q    Okay.  Thanks for letting us know.

20           MR. MORRIS:  If people can make

21      sure that they're on mute, that would

22      be great.

23      Q    Is that better?

24      A    Thank you.

25      Q    Okay.  Let me go into now showing
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2 they're accepted for prosecution until the

3 prosecution unit takes on the case, presents

4 it to the Department of Justice, and the

5 Department of Justice says, yes, we're going

6 to hear that or, no, we're not going to.

7           But that time line of how quick

8 that happens varies, again, very widely

9 depending upon location, docket, how many

10 people that are on the docket and, in other

11 words, what the flow, how many people are

12 there.  So it's heavily dependent.  There is

13 no set time frame on how quickly that it

14 happens.

15      Q    Understood that the time frame is

16 not set.  But once it is -- once it does

17 occur that the DOJ declines to prosecute,

18 does the individual nevertheless, in Border

19 Patrol's perspective, remain amenable for

20 prosecution?

21      A    Yes, they're still amenable by

22 policy.  And specifically, under zero

23 tolerance, they were amenable by Border

24 Patrol perspective, but whether or not DOJ

25 accepted that case was up to DOJ.
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2      Q    And it remained true that they're

3 amenable even after DOJ had affirmatively

4 declined the case?

5      A    Correct.

6      Q    There's nothing about being deemed

7 amenable to prosecution that made the parent

8 unavailable, correct?

9           MR.  MACWILLIAMS:  Objection.

10      Form.  Foundation.

11      A    Can you reword your question?

12           I'm sorry.  I don't understand.

13      Q    Sure.  Let me ask it this way.

14           What was it about being deemed

15 amenable to prosecution that made the parent

16 unavailable under the TVPRA?

17      A    Because you knew you were going to

18 set the individual for prosecution and you

19 were going to turn them over to United

20 States Marshal Service for -- to await

21 prosecution or to await going in front of an

22 attorney -- or I'm sorry -- going in front

23 of an immigration judge.

24      Q    Until the moment that the parent

25 was actually taken for prosecution, didn't
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12      Rules of the United States District Court for
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1      Q    After an immigration judge makes a

2 decision to remove the parent?

3      A    Yes.

4      Q    Did you have that understanding at the

5 time you signed the memo that's in front of you?

6      A    Yes, and the memo in front of me is

7 about detention, prosecution, removal, and then

8 unification would happen upon the judge's

9 decision.

10      Q    When you signed the referral memo, it

11 was your understanding that the separated family

12 members would be reunified only for purposes of

13 removal; is that correct?

14      A    Yes.

15      Q    Okay.  Was that reunification plan

16 written down anywhere?

17      A    You'd have to ask Matt Albence that

18 question.  Matt Albence was in charge of

19 implementing the execution of the plan.

20      Q    So you don't know if the reunification

21 plan is included in a memo or a manual or

22 directive?

23      A    You'd have to ask Matt Albence.  Once

24 the zero tolerance -- when this was being

25 developed, Matt Albence was the associate director
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1 for Enforcement and Removal Operations.  He's in

2 charge of detention removals, so he was to work

3 with HHS and CBP on execution of this plan.

4      Q    If you're going to propose a practice of

5 separating families, would you agree that a

6 critical component of that proposal is a plan for

7 reunifying them?

8                MR. MACWILLIAMS:  Objection; form.

9                THE WITNESS:  There should be a

10      plan.

11 BY MR. WALSH:

12      Q    Do you know what the plan was?

13      A    No.  Again, Matt Albence was assigned

14 the execution of this.  My general understanding

15 was, again, they get arrested, we detain them, we

16 prosecute them, they go to deportation

17 proceedings, then the reunification.

18           And again, I didn't get in the weeds on

19 this.  I was the director of the agency.  I'm

20 running a 20,000-man operation, so I have to count

21 on my senior leaders.  Matt was a senior executive

22 service man for two and a half decades.  I put a

23 lot of trust in Matt, who is extremely smart and

24 has been in immigration, enforcement of

25 immigration law for at least 25 years.  So I got
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1 to trust my leadership to execute this plan.

2      Q    So it was ERO, under Matt Albence's

3 leadership, that was responsible for reunifying

4 the separated family members; is that correct?

5      A    To work with HHS to make reunification.

6      Q    After Border Patrol transferred the

7 child to ORR custody, the child could be sent to

8 ORR shelters at varying places around the country;

9 is that correct?

10      A    Yes.

11      Q    As far away as New York?

12      A    I don't know of New York specifically,

13 but they have facilities all over the country.

14      Q    And while the child was in an ORR

15 shelter, their parent would generally be in an ICE

16 detention facility in the southwest border region;

17 is that correct?

18      A    I would not agree with that.  I think

19 parents -- with ICE detention, we have facilities

20 all over the country.  Depending on the population

21 of any one facility, they may be moved to another

22 facility.  If they have special needs, they have a

23 health issue, they may move to a specific facility

24 that has that capability.  So I wouldn't say they

25 were all kept at the southwest border.  Many were.
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1 prosecution is a consequence.  This was never

2 about separating families just, just to do it.

3 It's the byproduct of the prosecution.

4      Q    Did, did you understand that under

5 option 3, families would be separated?

6      A    Yes.

7      Q    The DHS referral policy is dated

8 April 23, 2018.  If you look at the last page

9 under option 3, there's a signature there.  Do you

10 understand that to be Secretary Neilsen's

11 signature?

12      A    I don't recognize her signature.  It's

13 probably hers, because it's on the approval line.

14      Q    And you see that the date next to her

15 signature is May 4, 2018, right?

16      A    Right.

17      Q    Do you know why Secretary Nielsen didn't

18 sign the memo until May 4, 2018 if this was

19 delivered to her on April 23?

20      A    Well, one reason is she asked a lot of

21 questions, so she was drilling down on this.

22      Q    What questions did she ask?

23      A    How this would be implemented.

24      Q    Do you recall specific --

25      A    Do we have, do we have processes in
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1 place?

2           For instance, you know, we deal with ORR

3 all the time, so we do have a practice in place of

4 dealing with ORR.  We have a practice in place of

5 detaining adults.  We have a practice in place to

6 know where those adults are on the Detention

7 Locator system.

8           So these are, you know, things that I

9 answered.  I don't know why it took her this long,

10 but I know she did -- we met with her once, I can

11 remember, where questions were asked, how would

12 this be implemented.

13      Q    Was one of her questions how would

14 families be reunified?

15      A    I explained to her that we've done this

16 in the past.  We have dealt with ORR in the past.

17 We have dealt with reunification in the past, with

18 ORR.  This isn't, this isn't the first time

19 families have been separated.  We've separated

20 families before, and was a parent convicted of a

21 crime?  Was a parent a danger to the child?  It

22 doesn't happen a lot, but it happens.

23      Q    It certainly never happened on the scale

24 that it happened in May and June of 2018 before,

25 correct?
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1      A    Correct.

2      Q    Who else from ICE was answering her

3 questions about what processes were in place to

4 implement family separation?

5      A    I, I need a minute.

6      Q    Sure.

7                MR. MACWILLIAMS:  Do you want to

8      just go off the record?

9                THE WITNESS:  Yes.

10                MR. MACWILLIAMS:  Can we take a

11      break?

12                MR. WALSH:  Yes.

13                THE VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is

14      10:06 a.m.  We are off the record.

15                (Whereupon, a short recess was

16                taken.)

17                THE VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is

18      10:21 a.m.  We are back on the record.

19      Please proceed.

20 BY MR. WALSH:

21      Q    So the question that was pending when we

22 broke was:  Who else from ICE was answering

23 Secretary Nielsen's questions about what processes

24 were in place to implement family separation?

25      A    During this meeting, it was normally me,
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1 agency.  This is just one piece of -- you know,

2 we enforce over 400 statutes, so we have things

3 happening all over the country, so I'm running the

4 agency, and again I take it upon Matt, a senior

5 executive, to handle these operations.  He's run

6 operations before, nationwide operations, so I had

7 full trust in Matt Albence.

8      Q    The referral memo was signed on May 4,

9 2018, correct?

10      A    Yes.

11      Q    Is it your understanding that option 3

12 in that memo was implemented shortly thereafter?

13      A    I don't know the time frame, but option

14 3 was implemented.

15      Q    Was it that month, May 2018?

16      A    I don't recall the specific day it

17 started.  I'm sorry.

18      Q    That's fine.

19           Prior to the implementation of option 3

20 in that memo, had you asked Mr. Albence to see the

21 plan for tracking separated family members?

22      A    No.

23      Q    Had you asked Mr. Albence to see the

24 plan for reunifying separated family members?

25      A    No.
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1   Q    And to be clear, you did not see the

2 plan for tracking or reunifying separated family

3 members at that time, correct?

4  MR. MACWILLIAMS:  Objection; form.

5   THE WITNESS:  No, but again, Matt

6  Albence has run many national operations, so

7  I had full faith that Matt Albence would

8   execute this plan efficiently.

9 BY MR. WALSH:

10  Q    Did Secretary Nielsen express any

11 reservations about implementing the referral

12 policy in the memo that you recommended to her?

13   A    I don't recall specifically.  I remember

14 she had a lot of questions.

15   Q    It's been reported that Secretary

16 Nielsen was hesitant to sign the referral policy,

17 because she was concerned that the government

18 didn't have sufficient facilities or sufficient

19 training to implement family separation.

20  Do you recall her expressing those

21 concerns?

22  A  Well, if she had those concerns, why did

23 she sign it?  I mean we answered her questions,

24 she seemed to accept out questions -- accept our

25 answers, excuse me, and she signed it.  I don't
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1 conversation?

2      A    No.  I remember we discussed a lot of

3 things.

4      Q    So Mr. Lloyd was informed that there was

5 a pending policy that would result in an influx of

6 children being sent to ORR shelters, and Mr. Lloyd

7 told you ORR could handle it.

8           Is that a fair summary of the

9 conversation you had with him?

10      A    My recollection is I met with Scott

11 Lloyd and we talked about not things.  I think

12 this is one of the things we talked about.  He

13 certainly didn't give me any reservations.  Again,

14 this is the best of my memory.  I think we, I

15 think we discussed it.  I met with him on one

16 occasion.  Went to lunch with him on one occasion.

17 He was aware of this being talked about, so -- and

18 he didn't present any reservations to me.

19      Q    You and Mr. McAlleenan and Mr. Cissna

20 presented three options in the referral memo.  Do

21 you know why Secretary Nielsen chose option 3?

22      A    I don't know why she chose option 3, why

23 she approved option 3.  Again, we had a meeting,

24 she asked a lot of questions, and she signed it.

25 You'd have to ask her why she approved option 3.
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1 BY MR. WALSH:

2      Q    How would separating families prevent

3 the tragedies you just described?

4                MR. MACWILLIAMS:  Objection; form.

5                THE WITNESS:  The purpose wasn't to

6      separate families.  The purpose was to

7      prosecute.  Detain, prosecute, reunite.

8 BY MR. WALSH:

9      Q    And you understood that the prosecution

10 of adults in family units would lead to

11 separation, correct?

12      A    I understood if we prosecuted these

13 parents and deport them, it provides a

14 consequence.  Based on decades of Border Patrol's

15 study on consequence delivery system, it would

16 result in decreased crossings, which would result

17 in decreased deaths, which would result in

18 decreased rapes, which would result in decreased

19 drugs, which would result in decreased criminals

20 coming across the border.

21      Q    So then the consequences that would

22 arise under the policy that you and Mr. McAlleenan

23 and Mr. Cissna -- or Vitiello suggested of

24 prosecuting families which would lead to

25 separation would be to discourage other families
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1 from making the journey and entering the United

2 States illegally.  Is that --

3      A    The consequence was deportation.  If

4 they see people being deported -- for instance,

5 the first family residential center we built was

6 an Artesia, New Mexico at a Border Patrol station.

7 We house families there.  We held them in custody

8 30 to 40 days, long enough to see a judge.

9           The vast majority lost their cases, I

10 remember.  We put them on an airplane and sent

11 them home.  The border numbers tanked, decreased

12 because the consequence worked, just like

13 Streamline and other consequences.

14           So based on my experience and based on

15 my understanding of the consequence delivery

16 system, just like the Streamline, deportation has

17 a consequence.  Deportation affects recidivism.

18 So my hope was doing this would provide a

19 consequence which would prevent more people from

20 coming and putting themselves in harm's way.

21      Q    Do you agree that separating families

22 would also be a consequence that would act as a

23 deterrent?

24      A    Oh, I think, yeah, no parent wants to be

25 separated from the child.  Absolutely.  I
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1 clarification is that your view or your

2 understanding is that the proposal was about

3 detention primarily, separation as a byproduct?

4      A    We lost the ability to detain families

5 together based on Judge Dolly Gee's --

6      Q    Mr. Homan, I'm sorry.  I'm just asking

7 if -- the policy you're advocating for, that

8 Mr. Blank refers to and that you refer to, it's

9 correct that it's -- I'll withdraw that question.

10           The proposal that's being discussed in

11 this email, regardless if you want to call it a

12 detention proposal or a separation proposal, is

13 the proposal your idea?

14      A    Yes, I think so.

15      Q    Okay.  The proposal at this time in 2017

16 involved the adult being detained in ICE custody

17 and the child being detained in ORR custody,

18 correct?

19      A    Yes.

20      Q    The proposal at this time did not

21 involve a component of referring the adult to DOJ

22 for prosecution, correct?  2017?

23      A    I don't think so.

24      Q    Can you explain why that is?  And I'll

25 add to that that your discussion in proposal with

Case 2:19-cv-05217-SRB   Document 404-2   Filed 04/24/23   Page 30 of 213



212-400-8845 - Depo@TransPerfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 100

1 capacity to handle the influx of detained adults

2 and children in ORR custody?

3      A    I don't remember.  It would have to

4 depend what the current detention population was

5 at the time.  If the current detention population

6 was near full, we would turn on other facilities.

7      Q    Again, sticking with the April to

8 May 2018 time period, were you aware as to whether

9 ICE and HHS personnel, including ORR personnel,

10 were sufficiently trained to handle the influx of

11 detained parents and separated children?

12      A    That would be Matt Albence's

13 responsibility.  You got to remember in May, I

14 already announced my retirement in May.  I spent

15 most of May transitioning to the person that was

16 representing me.  So I was, I was busy doing that,

17 plus taking care of the rest of the agency.

18           So again, Matt Albence would be the one

19 to make sure that the process, the process we

20 already had in place is capable of handling an

21 increase.

22      Q    You said -- so I guess the answer to the

23 question is, no, you don't know if ICE and HHS had

24 adequate training to handle the influx in April

25 and May of 2018, correct?
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1  (Exhibit 663 was marked for

2  identification.)

3 BY MR. WALSH:

4   Q    Mr. Homan, you've been handed

5 Plaintiffs' Exhibit 663.  It's a December 11, 2017

6 email, subject "Heads-up: S1 briefing next

7 Monday," and it attaches a document, "Immigration

8 and Border Security briefing for S1, revised."

9   If you look at the bottom email on page

10 1 and then onto the top of page 2.  It's a

11 December 9, 2017 email from Tracy Short to you and

12 others, and Mr. Short writes, "Please see the

13 revised agenda below to assist you in preparing

14 briefing material."

15   Do you understand that this email and

16 document attached to it were in connection with a,

17 a meeting to brief Secretary Nielsen?

18  A    Yes.

19   Q    Towards the bottom of page 2, under

20 "DHS-Initiated Solutions," do you see a number of

21 solutions listed there?

22  A    Yes.

23  Q    And romanette iii is "separation of

24 families proposal."

25  Do you see that?
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1      A    Yes.

2      Q    Do you think that the separation of

3 families proposal was raised with Secretary

4 Nielsen in December of 2017, having read this

5 document?

6      A    Probably, but again I just want to say

7 the "separation of families" wording, the people

8 at ICE and my staff knew that meant detention of

9 adults.  Parents.

10      Q    This email is sent to folks at CBP as

11 well, too, right?

12      A    Yes.

13      Q    And DHS Front Office also?

14      A    Yes.

15      Q    So is it your understanding that DHS

16 Front Office, CBP, as well as ICE, also understood

17 what was meant by the use of the phrase "family

18 separation proposal"?

19      A    They should, because I talked about the

20 detention of adults.  These people have been

21 involved with those meetings, so they knew the

22 proposal was the detention of adults.

23      Q    They knew the separation of families

24 proposal as listed here was the detention of

25 adults?
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1  A  They should.

2  Q  Going into the meeting --

3  A  If I can -- just so you know, so the HQ

4 Front Office, I don't know who -- I see DHS in

5 here.  I don't know if these people were in the

6 front office.  I just don't know.

7  Q    Fair enough.

8   Going into the meeting with Secretary

9 Nielsen, did you have any sense as to whether she

10 may be more receptive to the detention proposal

11 than had been Secretaries Johnson, Kelly and Duke?

12  A    I didn't know what her thoughts were on

13 it.

14   Q    But it's something that you wanted to

15 raise with her anyway, correct?

16   A    This is something that we wanted to

17 discuss based on the continuing numbers on the

18 border, the continuing death on the border,

19 continuing drugs coming across the border, all the

20 things I said before, to try to save lives, and

21 not only of migrants, but citizens of overdose

22 deaths of drugs coming across the border.  This is

23 about, again, saving lives and securing the

24 border.

25  Q    And so even though the detention
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1  numbers down.  That was the consequence.  It

2  was never about -- I'll say it a thousand

3  times.  It was never about let's just

4  separate families, let's hurt families, let's

5  use the separation of a family as a

6  deterrent.  It was about arrest, prosecution,

7  and/or immigration proceeding, removal,

8  reunification.

9 BY MR. WALSH:

10   Q    And that would result in the separation

11 of family members, correct?

12  A    Yes.

13   Q    And you often referred to it as

14 "separation policy," correct?

15  A    Yes.  For the same reason I told you.  I

16 knew what that meant.  I meant that the policy

17 proposal to detain families, and anybody that

18 thinks, when you detain a parent -- I need to

19 explain this -- anybody who thinks -- I'm not a

20 fool.  If you're going to detain a parent, the

21 child can't go into custody with them, so there's

22 going to be a separation.  Of course, that's a

23 byproduct of this.

24   So yes, the separation issue came up, we

25 used term "separation," because of that was a
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1 byproduct of what we had, but the overall goal was

2 not about separating.  It was about detaining,

3 prosecuting, removing, or releasing, depending on

4 the judge's order, and make their reunification

5 before the removal or release, the time of

6 release.

7   Q    What -- at this time, what was the plan

8 for reunification?

9   A    When they -- if they got prosecuted,

10 they come to ICE detention, when the decision is

11 to remove or release, then reunification would

12 start.

13   Q    Is that your understanding prior to

14 May 2018?

15   A    That's, that's the process that's always

16 been around.

17  Q    Do you know where that's laid out in

18 writing anywhere in a document prior to May 2018?

19  A  I don't know if it's in the operation

20 procedures or not -- something --

21   THE REPORTER:  Can you say that

22  again?  I can't hear you very well.

23   THE WITNESS:  I'm not sure it's in

24  the operational instructions or not, but

25  separation of families, for various reasons,
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1      has happened before, and we dealt with this

2      issue before.  There is a process in place.

3      We have worked with ORR in the past.

4 BY MR. WALSH:

5      Q    What was Secretary Nielsen's reaction to

6 the detention proposal?

7      A    She asked a lot of questions.

8      Q    What questions?

9      A    Process.  Mostly on process.  I

10 explained to her the existing process we had in

11 place.  Kevin McAlleenan talked about existing

12 processes he had in place, CBP had in place.

13 Questions like that.  She wanted to know how, how

14 will this work.

15      Q    And you were able to answer questions

16 regarding the tracking of separated family

17 members?

18                MR. MACWILLIAMS:  Objection; form.

19                THE WITNESS:  ICE's job is to track

20      people in our detention, that are in our

21      detention.  We have the detention locator

22      system and a separate database, I don't

23      remember the name of it, where you can go in

24      anytime to find out where a certain detainee

25      is being held.
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1 the separated children were?

2      A    I do not know.

3      Q    Did Secretary Nielsen express any moral

4 concerns with the separation of families?

5 Ethical, humanitarian, can't stomach it, like --

6      A    Most of her concern was about making

7 sure there's a process in place.

8      Q    When the detention proposal was

9 presented to Secretary Nielsen in December 2017,

10 did the proposal at that time have the prosecution

11 element to it?

12      A    I don't recall.  At some point it did,

13 but I don't remember when.

14                (Exhibit 664 was marked for

15                identification.)

16 BY MR. WALSH:

17      Q    Mr. Homan, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 664 is a

18 December 4, 2017 email from Kevin McAlleenan to

19 you and others.  The subject is "Immigration

20 Priorities Meeting, Follow-up Actions," and I want

21 to direct your attention to the second page, at

22 the top, the second bullet, "Potential for

23 increased prosecution of parents, where

24 appropriate.  CBP will evaluate with counsel, ICE,

25 DHS/OGC and DOJ, the potential for prosecution of
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1                THE VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is

2      4:31 p.m.  We are off the record.

3                (Whereupon, a short recess was

4                taken.)

5                THE VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is

6      4:45 p.m.  We're back on the record.  Please

7      proceed.

8 BY MR. WALSH:

9      Q    In the May/June 2018 time period, if a

10 parent in an apprehended family unit was not

11 prosecuted, but that parent was sent to ICE

12 detention and the child was transferred to ORR

13 custody anyway, that's the same detention policy

14 that you and Mr. McAlleenan had been proposing in

15 2017, isn't it?

16                MR. MACWILLIAMS:  Objection; form,

17      foundation.

18                THE WITNESS:  That portion of it,

19      the sending to ICE detention for removal.

20 BY MR. WALSH:

21      Q    So for --

22      A    Excuse me.  For either the removal or a

23 decision to grant a relief.

24      Q    So if there are parents who were not

25 prosecuted, yet ended up being sent to ICE
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1 custody, and their child was sent to ORR custody,

2 it's the same practice that you had been proposing

3 in 2017, correct?

4  MR. MACWILLIAMS:  Objection; form.

5  THE WITNESS:  Basically.

6 BY MR. WALSH:

7   Q    Did it differ in any way from the

8 proposal you and Mr. McAlleenan had been

9 suggesting in 2017?

10   A    It differed at the point that we

11 recommended prosecution, referred for prosecution.

12  (Discussion was held off the

13  record.)

14 BY MR. WALSH:

15   Q    Can we start that over, that question?

16 Did it differ in any way, and if you could repeat

17 your answer, please.

18  A  The only exception that differed is that

19 the adult was referred for prosecution.

20   Q    If the adult was referred for

21 prosecution but wasn't prosecuted, what was the

22 point of the referral?

23  A  Pardon me?

24  Q  If the adult was referred for

25 prosecution but wasn't prosecuted anyway, what was

Case 2:19-cv-05217-SRB   Document 404-2   Filed 04/24/23   Page 40 of 213



212-400-8845 - Depo@TransPerfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 215

1 the point of adding the prosecution component to

2 the separation -- excuse me -- the detention

3 proposal that you had been suggesting in 2017?

4      A    No, I think there's a misunderstanding.

5 What I meant was did it differ from the detention

6 plan where the adult goes to detention.  I'm

7 saying the only difference is, under zero

8 tolerance, they're recommended for prosecution.

9           In the detention plan we talked about

10 previously, they wouldn't be referred for criminal

11 prosecution.

12      Q    But if that person ends up not being

13 prosecuted, what's the point of the referral for

14 prosecution?  What, what does that serve?

15      A    Zero tolerance was, you know, everybody

16 across the board is going to be referred for

17 prosecution.  Now, the magistrate can choose not

18 to prosecute, and if he did, he would be moved to

19 deportation proceedings.

20      Q    You testified earlier that you texted

21 with Matt Albence and others about work.  Is it

22 likely that you would have texted with them about

23 issues related to the detention proposal?

24      A    I, I don't know.

25      Q    Do you know if IT preserved your text
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